Brownian motion correlation in the

peanosphere for $\kappa > 8$

Ewain Gwynne	Nina Holden	Jason Miller	Xin Sun
MIT	MIT	Cambridge	MIT

Abstract

The peanosphere (or "mating of trees") construction of Duplantier, Miller, and Sheffield encodes certain types of γ -Liouville quantum gravity (LQG) surfaces ($\gamma \in (0, 2)$) decorated with an independent SLE_{κ} ($\kappa = 16/\gamma^2 > 4$) in terms of a correlated twodimensional Brownian motion and provides a framework for showing that random planar maps decorated with statistical physics models converge to LQG decorated with an SLE. Previously, the correlation for the Brownian motion was only explicitly identified as $-\cos(4\pi/\kappa)$ for $\kappa \in (4, 8]$ and unknown for $\kappa > 8$. The main result of this work is that this formula holds for all $\kappa > 4$. This supplies the missing ingredient for proving convergence results of the aforementioned type for $\kappa > 8$. Our proof is based on the calculation of a certain tail exponent for SLE_{κ} on a quantum wedge and then matching it with an exponent which is well-known for Brownian motion.

Keywords: Schramm-Loewner evolution, Liouville quantum gravity, peanosphere

Contents

1	Introduction	2
	1.1 Main result	 6

	1.2	Preliminaries	7
	1.3	Approximate cone time event	12
	1.4	Outline	14
2	Euc	lidean exponent for the SLE event	15
	2.1	Euclidean upper bound	17
	2.2	Euclidean lower bound	20
	2.3	Proof of Proposition 2.1	21
3	The	quantum exponent	22
	3.1		22
		Moment estimates for the quantum boundary measure	23
	3.2	Circle average KPZ and tail estimates	$\frac{23}{25}$
	3.2 3.3	Moment estimates for the quantum boundary measure	23 25 28
	3.2 3.3 3.4	Moment estimates for the quantum boundary measure	 23 25 28 30
4	3.2 3.3 3.4 Con	Moment estimates for the quantum boundary measure	 23 25 28 30 31
4	 3.2 3.3 3.4 Cont 4.1 	Moment estimates for the quantum boundary measure \ldots	 23 25 28 30 31 32

1 Introduction

Suppose that h is an instance of the Gaussian free field (GFF) on a planar domain D and $\gamma \in (0, 2)$. Formally the γ -Liouville quantum gravity (LQG) surface associated with h is the Riemannian manifold with metric tensor given by

$$e^{\gamma h(z)}(dx^2 + dy^2),$$
 (1.1)

where $dx^2 + dy^2$ denotes the Euclidean metric on D. This expression does not make literal sense since h is a distribution and does not take values at points. However, one can make sense of the volume form associated with (1.1) as a random measure via various regularization procedures, e.g. the ones used in [6]. The metric space structure of LQG has been constructed in the special case $\gamma = \sqrt{8/3}$ in [22] building on [23] and, upon combining with [21], will be identified with the Brownian map in [27, 28], but it remains an open problem to construct the metric for other values of $\gamma \in (0, 2)$.

One of the main sources of significance of LQG is that it has been conjectured to describe the scaling limits of random planar maps decorated by statistical physics models. This conjecture can be formulated in several different ways by specifying the topology. For example, one can view random planar maps as metric spaces and endow them with the Gromov-Hausdorff topology. Convergence under this topology has been established in the case of uniformly random quadrangulations to the Brownian map in [18, 19]. Combining with the aforementioned works gives the Gromov-Hausdorff convergence to $\sqrt{8/3}$ -LQG. An alternative approach is to start off with a random planar map, embed it conformally into \mathbb{C} (e.g. via circle packing, Riemann uniformization, etc...) and show that the random area measure it induces (i.e., the pushforward of the uniform measure on the faces of the map) converges weakly to an LQG measure. Establishing this type of convergence is an open problem for any $\gamma \in (0, 2)$.

The work [5] takes a third approach through its peanosphere or mating of trees construction. More precisely, let $\gamma \in (0,2)$, $\kappa' = 16/\gamma^2 > 4$, and $(Z_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}} = (L_t, R_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$ be a correlated two-dimensional two-sided Brownian motion. Then Z encodes a pair of Brownian continuum random trees [1, 2, 3] with L and R as their contour functions. As explained in [5, Section 1.1], one can glue the two trees together to obtain a topological sphere endowed with a measure and the space-filling peano curve which traces the interface between the two trees¹. In [5] the authors show that there is a canonical way of embedding this measure-endowed topological sphere into $\mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ such that the pushforward of the measure is a form of γ -LQG and the image of the spacing-filling curve is an independent space-filling form of Schramm's SLE [32]

¹This is the source of the name peanosphere.

with parameter² κ' from ∞ to ∞ as defined in [20]; see also [5]. Moreover, it is shown in [5] that both the field *h* and the space-filling SLE are a.s. determined by *Z*. That is, the peanosphere comes equipped with a canonical conformal structure.

It is proved in [5] that for $\gamma \in [\sqrt{2}, 2)$ (equivalently, for $\kappa' \in (4, 8]$) the correlation between L and R is given by $-\cos(4\pi/\kappa') \ge 0$. The correlation between L and R for $\gamma \in (0, \sqrt{2})$ (equivalently, for $\kappa' > 8$) is left as an open problem [5, Question 13.4]. The main result of this paper is that the correlation between L and R is given by $-\cos(4\pi/\kappa')$ for all $\kappa' > 4$ (so that L and R are negatively correlated for $\kappa' > 8$).

For $\kappa' \in (4, 8]$, the peanosphere construction can be viewed as a continuum analogue of the bijection introduced by Sheffield in [36, Section 4.1], which encodes a critical Fortuin-Kasteleyn (FK) decorated planar map in terms of a word in a certain alphabet of five letters. Indeed, the manner in which the space-filling $SLE_{\kappa'}$ path η and the γ -LQG surface are encoded by Z closely parallels the manner in which an FK planar map is described by a word under the bijection of [36] (see [5, 11, 12] for more details). This correspondence allows one to interpret various scaling limit statements for FK planar maps, as proven in [36, 11, 13, 14], as convergence results for FK decorated random planar maps to SLE decorated LQG with respect to the peanosphere topology; see also [4] for a calculation of some exponents associated with an FK planar map which match the corresponding exponents which can be derived in the continuum using [5]. Under this topology, two spanning tree decorated surfaces are said to be close if the contour functions of the tree/dual tree pairs are close. On the FK planar map side, the tree/dual tree pair is generated using Sheffield's bijection [36] and in the continuum this pair is given by trees of GFF flow lines [20] whose peano curve is space-filling $SLE_{\kappa'}$. In [12], the authors use peanosphere convergence, plus some additional estimates, to prove convergence of critical FK planar maps toward $CLE_{\kappa'}$ -decorated LQG for $\kappa' \in (4, 8)$ in a stronger topology, which encodes the full topological structure of the collection of loops as

²We use the convention of [24, 25, 26, 20] of writing $\kappa' > 4$ for the SLE parameter and $\kappa = 16/\kappa'$ for the dual parameter.

well as the areas and boundary lengths of all of their complementary connected components. Recently the techniques of [36] have been generalized in [10] to the setting of random planar maps decorated with a certain type of spanning tree. It is in particular shown in [10] that for a certain range of parameter values, the contour functions converge in the scaling limit to a *negatively* correlated Brownian motion (which extends [36, Theorem 2.5]). In another work [16], it is shown that the height functions associated with the northwest tree and its dual tree which arise from a so-called bipolar orientation on a random planar map also converge to a certain pair of negatively correlated Brownian motions. The result of [16] is strengthened (for the case of triangulations) in [9], which shows convergence of two pairs of height functions to two pairs of negatively correlated Brownian motions, corresponding to two space-filling SLE curves traveling in a direction perpendicular (in the sense of imaginary geometry) to each other. In all of the above cases the correlation of the Brownian motion is explicit. Our main result allows us to interpret these limit results as convergence of random planar maps decorated with a statistical physics model to certain γ -LQG surfaces with $\gamma \in (0, \sqrt{2})$ decorated with an SLE_{$\kappa'} with <math>\kappa' > 8$.</sub>

Moreover, knowing the correlation of (L, R) allows us to understand the interplay between two-dimensional Brownian motion and the space-filling SLE on top of the LQG surface at a quantitative level. For example, the KPZ-like formula established in [8] relates the Hausdorff dimension of an arbitrary random Borel set $A \subset \mathbb{C}$ which is determined by the space-filling $SLE_{\kappa'}$ (viewed modulo monotone reparameterization of time) in the peanosphere construction to the Hausdorff dimension of its pre-image under the Brownian motion (L, R). This reduces the problem of computing the Hausdorff dimension of A to the problem of computing the dimension of an (often much simpler) set defined in terms of (L, R) (many examples of this type are given in [8]). Our result implies that the formula derived in [8] is valid for all $\kappa' > 4$ and not just $\kappa' \in (4, 8]$.

Finally, we remark that our result supplies the missing ingredient in order to identify the correlation of the two-dimensional Brownian excursion appearing in the finite-volume version of the pean sphere construction [23, Theorem 1.1] in the case $\gamma \in (0, \sqrt{2})$.

Acknowledgements We thank Scott Sheffield for helpful discussions. We thank an anonymous referee for numerous helpful comments on an earlier version of this paper. We thank the Isaac Newton Institute for its hospitality during part of our work on this project. E.G. was supported by the U.S. Department of Defense via an NDSEG fellowship. N.H. was supported by a doctoral research fellowship from the Norwegian Research Council. J.M.'s work was partially supported by DMS-1204894. X.S. was partially supported by NSF grant DMS-1209044.

1.1 Main result

Now we give the formal statement of our main result. We will remind the reader of the precise description of the objects involved in Section 1.2.

Given $\gamma \in (0, 2)$ and $\kappa' = 16/\gamma^2$, let η be a whole-plane space-filling SLE_{κ'} from ∞ to ∞ (defined in [20, Sections 1.2.3 and 4.3]; see also Section 1.2.2 of the present paper). Let $\gamma = 4/\sqrt{\kappa'}$ and let $\mathcal{C} = (\mathbb{C}, h, 0, \infty)$ be a γ -quantum cone independent from η , as in [5, Section 4.3] or Section 1.2.3 of the present paper. Let μ_h and ν_h , respectively, be the γ quantum area measure and γ -quantum boundary measure induced by h. Let $\tilde{\eta}$ be the curve obtained by parameterizing η by μ_h -mass, so that $\tilde{\eta}(0) = 0$ and $\mu_h(\tilde{\eta}([t_1, t_2])) = t_2 - t_1$ for each $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ with $t_1 < t_2$. Let $Z_t = (L_t, R_t)$ denote the net change in the ν_h -length of the left and right boundaries of $\tilde{\eta}((-\infty, t])$ relative to time 0. Then Z evolves as a two-sided Brownian motion with some correlation [5, Theorem 1.13] and Z a.s. determines the pair (η, \mathcal{C}) modulo rotation and scaling [5, Theorem 1.14] (this is the mathematically precise formulation of the mating of trees/peanosphere construction described above). For $\gamma \in [\sqrt{2}, 2)$, by [5, Theorem 1.13] the correlation of Z is $-\cos(4\pi/\kappa')$. Similar results are also proved in the upper half-plane setting. See Section 1.2.3 for the definition of the quantum wedge. **Theorem 1.1.** In the above setting, for $\gamma \in (0, \sqrt{2})$, the correlation of Z is still given by $-\cos(4\pi/\kappa')$. Furthermore, suppose that $(\mathbb{H}, \hbar, 0, \infty)$ is a $3\gamma/2$ -quantum wedge and η' is a chordal $\operatorname{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ from 0 to ∞ in \mathbb{H} sampled independently of \hbar and let $\tilde{\eta}'$ be the curve which arises by reparameterizing η' by quantum mass with respect to \hbar . Then the change in the left and right quantum boundary lengths of $\mathbb{H} \setminus \tilde{\eta}'([0,t])$ with respect to \hbar evolve as a two-dimensional correlated Brownian motion with correlation $-\cos(4\pi/\kappa')$.

We note that in light of Lemma 1.8 below, either of the two statements of Theorem 1.1 implies the other.

1.2 Preliminaries

1.2.1 Basic notation

Here we record some basic notation which we will use throughout this paper.

Notation 1.2. If a and b are two quantities, we write $a \leq b$ (resp. $a \geq b$) if there is a constant C (independent of the parameters of interest) such that $a \leq Cb$ (resp. $a \geq Cb$). We write $a \approx b$ if $a \leq b$ and $a \geq b$.

Notation 1.3. If a and b are two quantities which depend on a parameter x, we write $a = o_x(b)$ (resp. $a = O_x(b)$) if $a/b \to 0$ (resp. a/b remains bounded) as $x \to 0$ or as $x \to \infty$, depending on context. We write $a = o_x^{\infty}(b)$ if $a = o_x(b^s)$ for each s > 0.

Unless otherwise stated, all implicit constants in $\asymp, \preceq, \succeq, O_x(\cdot)$, and $o_x(\cdot)$ which are involved in the proof of a result are allowed to depend only on the extra parameters which the implicit constants in the statement of the result are allowed to depend on.

1.2.2 Schramm-Loewner evolution

Schramm-Loewner evolution (SLE_{κ}) is a one-parameter family of conformally invariant laws on two-dimensional fractal curves indexed by $\kappa > 0$, originally introduced in [32] as a candidate for the scaling limit of various discrete statistical physics models. We refer the reader to [17, 38] for an introduction to SLE.

Whole-plane space-filling $SLE_{\kappa'}$ from ∞ to ∞ for $\kappa' > 4$ is a variant of $SLE_{\kappa'}$ introduced in [20, Sections 1.2.3 and 4.3] and [5, Footnote 9]. In the case when $\kappa' \geq 8$, so ordinary $SLE_{\kappa'}$ is space-filling (which is the only case we will use in this paper), space-filling $SLE_{\kappa'}$ from ∞ to ∞ is a bi-infinite $SLE_{\kappa'}$ curve which fills in all of \mathbb{C} , starting and ending at ∞ . It has the property that if one runs it up until any stopping time τ , its complement is an unbounded simply connected domain and the conditional law of the path is given by that of an ordinary chordal $SLE_{\kappa'}$ in the remaining domain from the tip at time τ to ∞ . It can also be constructed directly from ordinary $SLE_{\kappa'}$ using a limiting procedure as follows (this is not equivalent to but easy to see from the GFF-based construction given in [20]). Suppose that η' is a chordal $SLE_{\kappa'}$ in \mathbb{H} from 0 to ∞ and that $z_0 \in \mathbb{H}$ is fixed. For each $\epsilon > 0$ let η'_{ϵ} be given by $\epsilon^{-1}(\eta' - z_0)$ parameterized according to Lebesgue measure and, for each r > 0, let $\tau_{\epsilon,r}$ (resp. $\sigma_{\epsilon,r}$) be the first time that η'_{ϵ} hits $\partial B_r(0)$ (resp. fills $B_r(0)$). Then the law of $\eta'_{\epsilon}|_{[\tau_{\epsilon,r},\sigma_{\epsilon,r}]}$ converges in total variation as $\epsilon \to 0$ to the restriction of whole-plane $SLE_{\kappa'}$ from ∞ to ∞ to the interval of times between when it first hits $B_r(0)$ and fills $B_r(0)$, also parameterized according to Lebesgue measure.

In what follows, whenever we refer to whole-plane space-filling $\text{SLE}_{\kappa'}$, we mean whole-plane space-filling $\text{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ from ∞ to ∞ . We record the aforementioned fact about the conditional law of whole-plane space-filling $\text{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ for $\kappa' \geq 8$ in the following lemma, which follows from the definition in [5, Footnote 9] together with a basic limiting argument.

Lemma 1.4. Let $\kappa' \geq 8$ and let η be a whole-plane space-filling $\operatorname{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ from ∞ to ∞ . Let τ be a stopping time for η . Then $\mathbb{C} \setminus \eta((-\infty, \tau])$ is a.s. simply connected, unbounded, and the conditional law of $\eta|_{[\tau,\infty)}$ given $\eta|_{(-\infty,\tau]}$ is that of a chordal $\operatorname{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ from $\eta(\tau)$ to ∞ in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \eta((-\infty, \tau])$.

In the case when $\kappa' \in (4,8)$, ordinary $SLE_{\kappa'}$ does not fill in open sets, but rather forms

"bubbles" which it surrounds, but never enters [31]. Space-filling $SLE_{\kappa'}$ in this case is obtained by continuously filling in these bubbles as they are disconnected from ∞ . It is the peano curve associated with the exploration tree in the construction of $CLE_{\kappa'}$ [34]. We will not need the $\kappa' \in (4, 8)$ case in this paper.

1.2.3 Quantum surfaces

Fix $\gamma \in (0, 2)$ (in this paper we will always take $\gamma = 4/\sqrt{\kappa'} \in (0, \sqrt{2})$). Also let k be a nonnegative integer. A γ -LQG surface with k marked points [6, 35, 5] is an equivalence class of k+2-tuples (D, h, z_1, \ldots, z_k) , where $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ is a domain (possibly all of \mathbb{C}), h is a distribution on D, and $z_1, \ldots, z_k \in \overline{D}$ are marked points. Two such k + 2-tuples (D, h, z_1, \ldots, z_k) and $(\widetilde{D}, \widetilde{h}, \widetilde{z}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{z}_k)$ are declared to be equivalent if there is a conformal map $f : \widetilde{D} \to D$ such that

$$\widetilde{h} = h \circ f + Q \log |f'|$$
 and $f(\widetilde{z}_j) = z_j, \, \forall j \in \{1, \dots, k\}$ (1.2)

where

$$Q := \frac{2}{\gamma} + \frac{\gamma}{2}.\tag{1.3}$$

In [6], it is shown that in the case when h is some variant of the GFF on D (which is the only case we will consider in this paper), the corresponding quantum surface has a natural area measure μ_h on D (which is a regularization of " $e^{\gamma h(z)} dz$ ", where dz denotes Lebesgue measure on D) and a natural boundary length measure ν_h on ∂D (which is a regularization of " $e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}h(z)} |dz|$ ", where |dz| denotes the pushforward of Lebesgue measure on $\partial \mathbb{D}$ under a conformal map $\mathbb{D} \to D$). By [6, Proposition 2.1] and its boundary analogue, these measures are preserved under transformations of the form (1.2). We note that the measure ν_h can be extended to certain curves lying in the interior of the domain D (in particular, this is true for SLE_{κ} curves with $\kappa = \gamma^2$). See [35, 5].

The main types of quantum surfaces which we will be interested in in this paper are the so-called quantum wedges and quantum cones, which are defined in [35, Section 1.6] and [5,

Sections 4.2 and 4.3]. For $\alpha \in (0, Q)$, an α -quantum wedge is a doubly marked quantum surface $\mathcal{W} = (\mathbb{H}, \hbar, 0, \infty)$ defined as follows. Let $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{H})$ be the Hilbert space used to define a free-boundary GFF on \mathbb{H} [35, Section 3] (i.e. the completion of the space of smooth functions on \mathbb{H} with respect to the inner product $(f, g)_{\nabla} = (2\pi)^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \nabla f(z) \cdot \nabla g(z) dz$. Let $\mathcal{H}^{0}(\mathbb{H})$ (resp. $\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{H})$) be the space of functions in $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{H})$ which are constant on each semicircle in \mathbb{H} centered at 0 (resp. its orthogonal complement).

Let $\alpha \in (0, Q)$, with Q as in (1.3). Following [5, Definition 4.3], we define an α -quantum wedge to be the doubly marked quantum surface $\mathcal{W} = (\mathbb{H}, \hbar, 0, \infty)$, where \hbar is a random distribution on \mathbb{H} defined as follows. The projection \hbar^{\dagger} of \hbar onto $\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{H})$ agrees in law with the projection onto $\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{H})$ of a free-boundary GFF on \mathbb{H} . The projection \hbar^{0} of \hbar onto $\mathcal{H}^{0}(\mathbb{H})$ is independent of \hbar^{\dagger} and is defined as follows. For $s \geq 0$, $\hbar^{0}(e^{-s}) = \mathcal{B}_{2s} + \alpha s$, where \mathcal{B} is a standard linear Brownian motion; and for s < 0, $\hbar^{0}(e^{-s}) = \hat{\mathcal{B}}_{-2s} + \alpha s$, where $\hat{\mathcal{B}}$ is independent from \mathcal{B} and has the law of a standard linear Brownian motion conditioned so that $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{2s} + (Q - \alpha)s > 0$ for all s > 0. Note that a quantum wedge has two marked points, 0 and ∞ . Every bounded subset of \mathbb{H} has finite quantum mass a.s. and every neighborhood of ∞ (i.e. any open set which contains $\mathbb{H} \setminus B_{r}(0)$ for some r > 0) has infinite mass a.s.

A quantum wedge is only defined modulo transformations of the form (1.2), so if we continue to parameterize the wedge by $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$, the distribution h can be replaced with another distribution obtained via (1.2) with f given by a scaling by a positive constant. Different choices of h are referred to as different *embeddings* of the same surface.

Definition 1.5. The distribution h defined just above is called the *circle average embedding* of a quantum wedge.

We will consider several other embeddings of a quantum wedge in Section 4.2.

Remark 1.6. The circle average embedding of a quantum wedge is convenient for the following reason. Suppose that h^F is a free-boundary GFF on \mathbb{H} with additive constant chosen so that its circle average over $\partial B_1(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ is 0 (which is the main normalization used in [5]) and let $h := h^F - \alpha \log |\cdot|$. Then with h as in Definition 1.5, the restrictions of h and h to $B_1(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ agree in law. Indeed, if we let h^0 be the projection of h onto $\mathcal{H}^0(\mathbb{H})$ (equivalently the semicircle average process around 0), then $h^0(e^{-s})$ evolves as a two-sided Brownian motion, so $(h^0(e^{-s}))_{s\geq 0} \stackrel{d}{=} (h^0(e^{-s}))_{s\geq 0}$. Moreover, the projections of h and h onto $\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{H})$ agree in law by definition.

For $\alpha \in (0, Q)$, an α -quantum cone is a doubly marked quantum surface $\mathcal{C} = (\mathbb{C}, h, 0, \infty)$ which is similar to an α -quantum wedge but is parameterized by the whole plane rather than the half-plane. We will now describe the definition of this object, which first appeared in [5, Definition 4.9]. Let $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{C})$ be the Hilbert space used to define the whole-plane GFF on \mathbb{C} . Let $\mathcal{H}^0(\mathbb{C})$ (resp. $\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{C})$) be the space of functions in $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{C})$ which are constant on each circle centered at 0 (resp. its orthogonal complement). An embedding h of a γ -quantum cone into \mathbb{C} can be constructed as follows. The projection h^{\dagger} of h onto $\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{C})$ agrees in law with the corresponding projection of a whole-plane GFF on \mathbb{C} . The projection h^0 of h onto $\mathcal{H}^0(\mathbb{C})$ is independent of h^{\dagger} and is described as follows. For $s \geq 0$, $h^0(e^{-s}) = \mathcal{B}_s + \alpha s$, where \mathcal{B} is a standard linear Brownian motion; and for s < 0, $h^0(e^{-s}) = \widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-s} + \alpha s$, where $\widehat{\mathcal{B}}$ is a standard linear Brownian motion conditioned so that $\widehat{\mathcal{B}}_s + (Q - \alpha)s > 0$ for all s > 0, independent from \mathcal{B} .

Remark 1.7. In [5], the sets of quantum cones and quantum wedges are sometimes parameterized by a different parameter, called the *weight*, which is equal to $\gamma(\gamma/2 + Q - \alpha)$ in the wedge case and $2\gamma(Q - \alpha)$ in the cone case, with Q as in (1.2). The reason for this choice of parameter is that it behaves nicely under the various "gluing" and "cutting" operations considered in [5]. In this paper we will not consider the weight parameter and will always identify our wedges and cones by α , the size of the logarithmic singularity at 0.

The main fact which we will use about quantum cones in this paper is the following lemma, which allows us to reduce the problem of studying a space-filling $SLE_{\kappa'}$ on a γ -quantum cone to the problem of studying an ordinary chordal $SLE_{\kappa'}$ on a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge.

Lemma 1.8. Let $\kappa' \geq 8$ and $\gamma = 4/\sqrt{\kappa'} \in (0,\sqrt{2}]$. Let $\mathcal{C} = (\mathbb{C}, h, 0, \infty)$ be a γ -quantum cone. Let η be a whole-plane space-filling SLE_{$\kappa'} from <math>\infty$ to ∞ independent from \mathcal{C} . Let $\tilde{\eta}$ be the curve obtained by parameterizing η by γ -quantum mass with respect to h so that $\tilde{\eta}(0) = 0$. Let \mathcal{W} be the quantum surface obtained by restricting h to $\mathbb{C} \setminus \tilde{\eta}((-\infty, 0])$. Then the pair $(\mathcal{W}, \tilde{\eta}|_{[0,\infty)})$ has the law of a $\frac{3\gamma}{2}$ -quantum wedge together with an independent chordal SLE_{$\kappa'} parameterized$ by quantum mass with respect to this wedge.</sub></sub>

Proof. This is essentially proven as part of the proof of [5, Lemma 9.2], but we give the details for completeness. Let η_{-} and η_{+} be the left and right boundaries of $\tilde{\eta}((-\infty, 0])$. Then η_{\pm} are independent of \mathcal{C} ; the law of η_{-} is that of a whole-plane $\mathrm{SLE}_{\kappa}(2-\kappa)$ from 0 to ∞ ; and the conditional law of η_{+} given η_{-} is that of a chordal $\mathrm{SLE}_{\kappa}(-\kappa/2; -\kappa/2)$ from 0 to ∞ in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \eta_{-}$. Indeed, this follows from the construction of [5, Footnote 9] as well as [20, Theorems 1.1 and 1.11]. By [5, Theorem 1.12], the law of the quantum surface \mathcal{W}' obtained by restricting \mathcal{C} to $\mathbb{C} \setminus \eta_{-}$ is that of a $(2\gamma - 2/\gamma)$ -quantum wedge. By [5, Theorem 1.9], the surface \mathcal{W} obtained by cutting \mathcal{W}' by η_{+} has the law of a $\frac{3\gamma}{2}$ -quantum wedge. The law of $\tilde{\eta}|_{[0,\infty)}$ is obtained from Lemma 1.4 and the independence of \mathcal{W} and $\tilde{\eta}|_{[0,\infty)}$ (the latter viewed as a curve modulo monotone reparameterization) follows from independence of η and \mathcal{C} together with Lemma 1.4.

1.3 Approximate cone time event

In this subsection we reduce the proof of Theorem 1.1 to the problem of calculating the tail exponent for the probability of a certain event.

Assume we are in the setting described in Section 1.1. A $\pi/2$ -cone time of the Brownian motion Z = (L, R) is a time $t \in \mathbb{R}$ for which there exists t' > t such that $L_s \ge L_t$ and $R_s \ge R_t$ for each $s \in [t, t']$. That is, Z stays in the "cone" $\mathbb{R}^2_+ + Z_t$ for some positive amount of time after t. In the case when $\kappa' \in (4, 8)$, the covariance of the peanosphere Brownian motion Z is obtained by computing the Hausdorff dimension of its $\pi/2$ -cone times in terms of κ' and comparing the formula thus obtained to the known formula for the Hausdorff dimension of the set of $\pi/2$ -cone times in terms of the correlation [7]. The Hausdorff dimension is calculated in terms of κ' by observing that cone times for the Brownian motion correspond to local cut times for η , see [5, Lemma 9.4].

In the case when $\kappa' > 8$, the curve η a.s. does not have any local cut times, so Z a.s. does not have any $\pi/2$ -cone times, hence has non-positive correlation [37]. To compute the correlation in this case, we will compute the tail exponent for the probability that 0 is an "approximate $\pi/2$ -cone time" for Z, meaning that the event

$$\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{t} := \left\{ \inf_{s \in [0,t]} L_{s} \ge -\delta \text{ and } \inf_{s \in [0,t]} R_{s} \ge -\delta \right\}$$
(1.4)

occurs for t close to 1 and δ close to 0. The tail exponent for the probability of $\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{t}$ is computed in terms of the correlation of L_{t} and R_{t} in [37, Equation (4.3)].

Lemma 1.9. Let $-\alpha = -\alpha(\gamma)$ be the correlation of L and R and let

$$\sigma(\gamma) := \frac{\pi}{\arccos(\alpha)}.\tag{1.5}$$

There is a constant c > 0 depending only on α , such that for $\delta > 0$ and $t \ge \delta^{1/2}$ we have

$$\mathbb{P}\Big[\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^t\Big] = (c + o_{\delta}(1))t^{-\sigma(\gamma)/2}\delta^{\sigma(\gamma)},$$

where here the $o_{\delta}(1)$ is uniformly bounded for $\delta > 0$ and $t \ge \delta^{1/2}$ and tends to 0 as $\delta \to 0$ for each fixed t.

Proof. Let A be a linear transformation chosen in such a way that $\widetilde{Z} := AZ$ is a standard two-dimensional Brownian motion (variances equal to 1, covariance equal to 0). Then an approximate $\pi/2$ -cone time for Z is the same as an approximate $\arccos(\alpha)$ -cone time for \widetilde{Z} . Hence the statement of the lemma follows from [37, Equation (4.3)].

In light of Lemma 1.9, to prove Theorem 1.1 it suffices to show that

$$\sigma(\gamma) = \frac{4}{\gamma^2} = \frac{\kappa'}{4}.$$
(1.6)

Remark 1.10. The event \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} of (1.4) can equivalently be defined as follows. Let $f : \mathbb{C} \setminus \tilde{\eta}((-\infty, 0]) \to \mathbb{H}$ be a conformal map which takes 0 to 0 and ∞ to ∞ . Let $h := h \circ f^{-1} + Q \log |(f^{-1})'|$ and let $\tilde{\eta}' := f(\tilde{\eta}|_{[0,\infty)})$. By Lemma 1.8, the quantum surface $\mathcal{W} = (\mathbb{H}, h, 0, \infty)$ has the law of a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge and $\tilde{\eta}'$ is a chordal SLE_{$\kappa'}</sub> from 0 to <math>\infty$ in \mathbb{H} which is independent from \mathcal{W} and parameterized by γ -quantum mass with respect to h. For $\delta > 0$, let $\chi_{\delta,L}$ and $\chi_{\delta,R}$ be the unique points respectively in \mathbb{R}_{-} and \mathbb{R}_{+} so that $\nu_{h}([-\chi_{\delta,L}, 0]) = \nu_{h}([0, \chi_{\delta,R}]) = \delta$. Then \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} is the same as the event that $\tilde{\eta}'$ does not hit either $(-\infty, -\chi_{\delta,L}]$ or $[\chi_{\delta,R}, \infty)$ before time t. Since $\tilde{\eta}'$ is boundary filling, \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} is also the same as the event that $\tilde{\eta}'$ does not hit either $-\chi_{\delta,L}$ or $\chi_{\delta,R}$ before time t.</sub>

1.4 Outline

In the remainder of this paper, we will prove (1.6), hence Theorem 1.1. For the proof, we will use the alternative description of the event \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} given in Remark 1.10. In Section 2, we will use the SLE martingales of [33] to prove an estimate for the probability that a chordal SLE_{κ'} from 0 to ∞ in \mathbb{H} exits the Euclidean ball of fixed radius r > 0 before hitting $-z_{L}$ or z_{R} , where $z_{L}, z_{R} \in (0, \infty)$. In Section 3, we will prove some moment estimates for the quantum boundary measure induced by a GFF which together with the estimates of Section 2 will enable us to prove a variant of (1.6) with \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} replaced by the event that the following is true. With $\chi_{\delta,L}$ and $\chi_{\delta,R}$ as in Remark 1.10, the curve $\tilde{\eta}'$ exits the Euclidean ball of radius r before hitting either $-\chi_{\delta,L}$ or $\chi_{\delta,R}$. The arguments of this section are similar to those used to estimate the quantum measure in [6, Section 4]. In Section 4, we will extract (1.6) from the estimate of Section 3 using some techniques which are similar to those found in [5, Section 10.4].

2 Euclidean exponent for the SLE event

Recall that η' is an $\operatorname{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ from 0 to ∞ in \mathbb{H} , and let $(W_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and $(g_t)_{t\geq 0}$ denote its Loewner driving function and Loewner maps, respectively. Assume throughout this section that η' is parameterized by half-plane capacity, and let

$$\mathcal{F}_t := \sigma(\eta'(s) : s \in [0, t]). \tag{2.1}$$

The purpose of this section is to prove the following proposition, i.e., we calculate the exponent for a Euclidean analogue of the event \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} of (1.4).

Proposition 2.1. For any T > 0 and $z_L, z_R \in (0, 1)$ define the event E_{z_L, z_R}^T by

$$E_{z_L, z_R}^T := \{-z_L, z_R \notin \eta'([0, T])\}.$$

Then the following estimate holds for $\rho := \kappa' - 4$:

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^T] = \mathbb{P}\Big[E_{z_L/\sqrt{T},z_R/\sqrt{T}}^1\Big],$$

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1] = (z_L + z_R)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')} z_L^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_L}(1)} z_R^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_R}(1)},$$
(2.2)

where the rates of convergence of $o_{z_L}(1)$ and $o_{z_R}(1)$ depend only on κ' . For any r > 0 define the stopping time $T_r := \inf\{t > 0 : |\eta'(t)| \ge r\}$. Then

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^{T_r}] = \mathbb{P}\Big[E_{z_L/r,z_R/r}^{T_1}\Big],$$

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^{T_1}] = (z_L + z_R)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')} z_L^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_L}(1)} z_R^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_R}(1)}.$$
(2.3)

Both for the upper and the lower bound in Proposition 2.1 we will use the following result from [33, Theorem 6, Remark 7].

Lemma 2.2. Define $\rho := \kappa' - 4$, and let \widehat{T}_L (resp. \widehat{T}_R) denote the first time that η' hits $-z_L$

(resp. z_R). For each $t \in [0, \hat{T}_L]$ (resp. $t \in [0, \hat{T}_R]$) define $z_t^L := g_t(-z_L)$ (resp. $z_t^R := g_t(z_R)$) and define the stochastic process $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ by

$$M_{t} = \begin{cases} |W_{t} - z_{t}^{R}|^{\rho/\kappa'} |W_{t} - z_{t}^{L}|^{\rho/\kappa'} |z_{t}^{R} - z_{t}^{L}|^{\rho^{2}/(2\kappa')} & \text{if } t \in [0, \widehat{T}_{L} \wedge \widehat{T}_{R}] \\ 0 & \text{if } t \ge \widehat{T}_{L} \wedge \widehat{T}_{R}. \end{cases}$$

Then M_t is a local martingale.

It is also proved in [33, Theorem 6] that the law of η' weighted by M_t (run up to an appropriate stopping time) has the law of a chordal $\text{SLE}_{\kappa'}(\rho; \rho)$ with force points at $-z_L$ and z_R , but we will not need this result. Note that the derivative term in [33] vanishes for $\rho = \kappa' - 4$.

For our proof of the lower bound in Proposition 2.1 we will need that $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a true martingale, not only a local martingale.

Lemma 2.3. The local martingale $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ defined in Lemma 2.2 is a martingale.

Proof. It is sufficient to prove that for any $t \ge 0$ we have $\mathbb{E}[\sup_{s\in[0,t]} M_s] < \infty$. This is sufficient, since if $(\sigma_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ are stopping times such that $(M_{\sigma_k\wedge t})_{t\ge 0}$ are martingales and $\sigma_k \to \infty$ a.s., we can use the dominated convergence theorem to argue that $M_{\sigma_k\wedge t} \to M_t$ in L^1 for each $t \ge 0$.

Applying Itô's formula and the Loewner equation, we have that both $z_t^R - W_t$ and $W_t - z_t^L$ are constant multiples of Bessel processes of dimension $1 + \frac{4}{\kappa'} < 2$. Since the law of a Bessel process of dimension δ is stochastically dominated by the law of a Bessel process of dimension δ' provided $0 < \delta < \delta'$, it follows that there exist two stochastic processes \hat{B}^R, \hat{B}^L which are constant multiples of two-dimensional Bessel processes such that $z_t^R - W_t \leq \hat{B}_t^R$ and $z_t^L - W_t \leq \hat{B}_t^L$ for all $t \geq 0$. Since \hat{B}^R and \hat{B}^L each have the law of the modulus of a two-dimensional Brownian motion, Doob's maximal inequality implies that

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\sup_{s\in[0,t]}|z_s^q - W_s| > x\right] = o_x^{\infty}(x) \quad \text{for} \quad q \in \{L, R\}.$$
(2.4)

Using that $|z_t^R - z_t^L| \leq 2 \max(|z_t^L - W_t|, |z_t^R - W_t|), \rho > 0$ (so that all of the exponents in the definition of M_t are positive), and the sum of the exponents in the definition of M_t is equal to $\frac{\kappa'}{2} - 2$, we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s\in[0,t]}M_s\right] \preceq \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s\in[0,t]}(|z_s^R - W_s| \lor 1)^{\kappa'/2-2}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s\in[0,t]}(|z_s^L - W_s|) \lor 1)^{\kappa'/2-2}\right] < \infty.$$

We have $M_0 = (z_L + z_R)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')} z_L^{\rho/\kappa'} z_R^{\rho/\kappa'}$, i.e., M_0 has the same exponents as the probability of the event E_{z_L,z_R}^1 in Proposition 2.1. In order to prove the estimate (2.2) for T = 1 it is therefore sufficient to prove that $\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1]$ is approximately equal to the expected value of $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ stopped at some appropriate stopping time. This is our strategy for the proof both of the upper bound and of the lower bound in (2.2).

2.1 Euclidean upper bound

As indicated above we will establish the upper bound of $\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1]$ in Proposition 2.1 by defining an appropriate stopping time for $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$. We will use the following stopping time σ_u for some u > 0:

$$\sigma_u = \inf\{t \ge 0 : M_t = (z_R z_L)^u \text{ or } M_t = 0\}.$$
(2.5)

In order to prove that $\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1]$ is bounded above by $\mathbb{E}[M_{\sigma_u}] = \mathbb{E}[M_0]$ (up to o(1) errors) it is sufficient to prove that $\sigma_u < 1$ with very high probability for small z_L, z_R . This is sufficient since $\mathbb{E}[M_{\sigma_u}]$ is approximately equal to $\mathbb{P}[M_{\sigma_u} = (z_L z_R)^u]$ for small u. The following two technical lemmas will help us establish that $\sigma_u < 1$ with very high probability. In Lemma 2.4 we prove that with very high probability $\operatorname{Im} \eta'(t)$ does not stay close to the real line for all $t \in [0, 1]$. Lemma 2.5 implies a lower bound for M_t in terms of $\operatorname{Im} \eta'(t)$. **Lemma 2.4.** For each $\epsilon > 0$ we let

$$F_{\epsilon} := \left\{ \sup_{t \in [0,1]} \operatorname{Im}(\eta'(t)) \le \epsilon \right\}.$$

Then $\mathbb{P}[F_{\epsilon}] = o_{\epsilon}^{\infty}(\epsilon).$

Proof. By scale invariance of SLE the statement of the lemma is equivalent to the statement that if $F'_n := {\sup_{t \in [0,n]} \text{Im}(\eta'(t)) \le 1}$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ then we have $\mathbb{P}[F'_n] = o_n^{\infty}(1/n)$. Define the stopping time \widetilde{T} by

$$\widetilde{T} := \inf\{t \ge 0 : \operatorname{Im}(\eta'(t)) \ge 1\}.$$
(2.6)

It is sufficient to prove that there is a constant p > 0 s.t. for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\mathbb{P}[\widetilde{T} < (n+1) \,|\, \mathcal{F}_n] \ge p,\tag{2.7}$$

since this bound implies $\mathbb{P}[F'_n] \leq (1-p)^n = o_n^{\infty}(1/n)$. Here \mathcal{F}_n is as in (2.1).

Define $p := \mathbb{P}[\tilde{T} < 1]$. Since (2.7) clearly holds on the event that $\tilde{T} \leq n$ we assume $\tilde{T} > n$. Define $l := \{x + i : x \in \mathbb{R}\}$, and for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ define $l'_n := \{g_n(z) : z \in l\}$. By [17, Equation (4.5)] each $z \in l'_n$ satisfies $\operatorname{Im}(z) \leq 1$, and l'_n is a connected set dividing the upper half-plane into an upper and a lower part, hence the SLE $g_n(\eta')$ hits l'_n before it hits l. The estimate (2.7) follows by the conformal Markov property of SLE.

Lemma 2.5. Consider the stopping time \widetilde{T} defined by (2.6). Let $S \subset \mathbb{H}$ denote the right boundary of $\eta'([0,\widetilde{T}])$, and let λ denote Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} . Then there is a universal constant c > 0 such that $\lambda(g_{\widetilde{T}}(S)) > c$. The same likewise holds if we instead take S to be the left boundary of $\eta'([0,\widetilde{T}])$.

Proof. We assume without loss of generality that S is equal to the right boundary of $\eta'([0, \tilde{T}])$. Let $(\mathcal{B}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a Brownian motion in \mathbb{C} independent of η' , and for each $z \in \mathbb{H}$ let $\mathbb{P}^z[\cdot]$ be the law under which $\mathcal{B}_0 = z$. For each $z \in \mathbb{H}$ let I_z be the horizontal line segment from i + z - 1 to i + z + 1, and define the two stopping times $\overline{\tau}$ and $\widehat{\tau}$ for $(\mathcal{B}_t)_{t \ge 0}$ (conditioned on $\mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{T}}$) as follows.

$$\overline{\tau} = \inf\{t \ge 0 : \mathcal{B}_t \notin \mathbb{H} \setminus \eta'([0, \widetilde{T}])\}, \qquad \widehat{\tau} = \inf\{t \ge 0 : \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}_t = 2\}.$$

By conformal invariance of Brownian motion and the explicit expression for the Poisson kernel of \mathbb{H} , see [17, Exercise 2.23], we have

$$\lambda(g_t(S)) = \lim_{y \to \infty} \pi y \mathbb{P}^{iy}[\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\tau}} \in S \mid \mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{T}}]$$

$$\geq \lim_{y \to \infty} \pi y \mathbb{P}^{iy}[\mathcal{B}_{\widehat{\tau}} \in I_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{T}}] \times \inf_{z \in I_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})}} \mathbb{P}^z[\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\tau}} \in S \mid \mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{T}}].$$
(2.8)

By using the explicit formula for the Poisson kernel of \mathbb{H} it holds a.s. that

$$\lim_{y \to \infty} \pi y \mathbb{P}^{iy} [\mathcal{B}_{\widehat{\tau}} \in I_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})} \,|\, \mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{T}}] = 2.$$
(2.9)

For each $z \in \mathbb{H}$ let K'_z be the half-line $K'_z := z + \mathbb{R}^-$. Let S'_z be the subset of the boundary of $\mathbb{H}\setminus K'_z$ corresponding to the lower part of K'_z (viewing the boundary of $\mathbb{H}\setminus K'_z$ as a collection of prime ends), and let $\tau' := \inf\{t \ge 0 : \mathcal{B}_t \notin \mathbb{H}\setminus K'_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})}\}$. If $\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}_0 \ge 2$ it holds by a geometric argument that $\{\mathcal{B}_{\tau'} \in S'_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})}\} \subset \{\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\tau}} \in S\}$. Therefore

$$\inf_{z \in I_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})}} \mathbb{P}^{z}[\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\tau}} \in S \mid \mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{T}}] \geq \inf_{z \in I_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})}} \mathbb{P}^{z}[\mathcal{B}_{\tau'} \in S'_{\eta'(\widetilde{T})} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{T}}] = \inf_{z \in I_{i}} \mathbb{P}^{z}[\mathcal{B}_{\tau'} \in S'_{i}] \succeq 1.$$

This estimate combined with (2.8) and (2.9) implies the assertion of the lemma.

Proof of upper bound in (2.2) for T = 1. It is sufficient to prove that for small enough u > 0,

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L, z_R}^1] \preceq (z_R z_L)^{-u} z_R^{\rho/\kappa'} z_L^{\rho/\kappa'} (z_R + z_L)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')}.$$
(2.10)

Recall the definition (2.5) of σ_u . The process $(M_{\sigma_u \wedge t})_{t \geq 0}$ is a bounded martingale if u is chosen

small enough that $M_0 \leq (z_L z_R)^u$, hence the optional stopping theorem implies $\mathbb{E}[M_{\sigma_u}] = M_0$. This implies further that

$$\mathbb{P}[M_{\sigma_u} = (z_R z_L)^u] = (z_R z_L)^{-u} \mathbb{E}[M_{\sigma_u}]$$

$$= (z_R z_L)^{-u} \mathbb{E}[M_0] = (z_R z_L)^{-u} z_R^{\rho/\kappa'} z_L^{\rho/\kappa'} (z_R + z_L)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')}.$$
(2.11)

We claim that for each u > 0 there exists some sufficiently small s > 0 only depending on usuch that $\{\sigma_u \ge 1\} \subset F_{(z_R z_L)^s}$ for sufficiently small z_L, z_R , with the latter event defined as in Lemma 2.4 with $\epsilon = (z_R z_L)^s$. Define the stopping time \widetilde{T}_s by $\widetilde{T}_s := \inf\{t \ge 0 : \operatorname{Im}(\eta'(t)) \ge (z_R z_L)^s\}$. If $\widetilde{T}_s \le 1$, i.e. $F_{(z_R z_L)^s}$ does not occur, and $M_1 \ne 0$, Lemma 2.5 implies that $z_{\widetilde{T}_s}^L - W_{\widetilde{T}_s} > c(z_R z_L)^s$ and $W_{\widetilde{T}_s} - z_{\widetilde{T}_s}^R > c(z_R z_L)^s$, where c is the constant in the statement of the lemma. Hence $M_{\widetilde{T}_s} > (z_R z_L)^u$ for sufficiently small s, z_L, z_R , so $\sigma_u < 1$ and the claim follows. We have

$$E^1_{z_L,z_R} \cap \{M_{\sigma_u} = 0\} \subset \{\sigma_u \ge 1\} \subset F_{(z_R z_L)^s}.$$

By Lemma 2.4 and (2.11) we have

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1] \le \mathbb{P}[F_{(z_R z_L)^s}] + \mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1; M_{\sigma_u} = (z_R z_L)^u] \\ \le z_R^{\rho/\kappa' + o_u(1)} z_L^{\rho/\kappa' + o_u(1)} (z_R + z_L)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')}.$$

The result follows since u > 0 was arbitrary.

2.2 Euclidean lower bound

Recall the definition of E_{z_L,z_R}^1 and $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ in Proposition 2.1 and Lemma 2.2, respectively. In this section we will prove that $\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1]$ is bounded below by $\mathbb{E}[M_1] = M_0$ up to o(1) errors in the exponents. In order to prove this estimate we need to show that the contribution to $\mathbb{E}[M_1]$ of large values of M_1 is very small.

Proof of lower bound in (2.2) for T = 1. Since $(M_t)_{t \ge 0}$ is a martingale by Lemma 2.3, we

have that

$$M_0 = \mathbb{E}[M_1] = \mathbb{E}[M_1; M_1 > (z_R z_L)^{-u}] + \mathbb{E}[M_1; 0 < M_1 \le (z_R z_L)^{-u}]$$

Since $|z_t^q - W_t| \le |z_t^R - z_t^L|$ for $q \in \{L, R\}$ and all of the exponents in the definition of M_t are positive and sum to $\frac{\kappa'}{2} - 2$, we have that $M_t \le |z_t^R - z_t^L|^{\kappa'/2-2}$. Therefore,

$$\mathbb{E}[M_1; M_1 > (z_R z_L)^{-u}] \le \mathbb{E}\Big[|z_1^R - z_1^L|^{\kappa'/2-2}; |z_1^R - z_1^L|^{\kappa'/2-2} > (z_R z_L)^{-u}\Big]$$

= $o_{z_R z_L}^{\infty}(z_R z_L),$ (2.12)

where the last equality follows from large deviation estimates for Bessel processes as in the proof of Lemma 2.3. It follows that $\mathbb{E}[M_1; M_1 > (z_R z_L)^{-u}] < \frac{1}{2}M_0$ if either z_R or z_L is sufficiently small, and therefore

$$M_0 \leq \mathbb{E}[M_1; 0 < M_1 \leq (z_R z_L)^{-u}] \leq (z_R z_L)^{-u} \mathbb{P}(M_1 > 0),$$

which implies that

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^1] = \mathbb{P}[M_1 > 0] \succeq z_R^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_R}(1)} z_L^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_L}(1)} (z_R + z_L)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')}.$$

2.3 Proof of Proposition 2.1

By the scaling property of SLE it is sufficient to prove the estimates (2.2) and (2.3) for T = 1and r = 1, respectively. Combining the results of Sections 2.1 and 2.2 we have proved (2.2) for T = 1. To prove the estimate (2.3) and hence complete the proof of Proposition 2.1, it suffices to show that T_1 is of order 1 with high probability.

Proof of Proposition 2.1. The lower bound of (2.3) is immediate from (2.2), since the halfplane capacity of η' stopped upon hitting $\partial \mathbb{D} \cap \mathbb{H}$ is bounded above by the half-plane capacity of $\mathbb{D} \cap \mathbb{H}$, which implies that we a.s. have $T_1 \leq 1$. To complete the proof of the proposition we need to prove the upper bound of (2.3). Let λ denote Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} . By [17, Equation (3.14)] and the surrounding text we have

$$\lambda(g_{T_1}(\eta'([0, T_1]))) \ge c > 0,$$

where the constant c is universal. Conditioned on $E_{z_L,z_R}^{T_1}$ we have

$$(z_{T_1}^R - W_{T_1}) + (W_{T_1} - z_{T_1}^L) \ge \lambda(g_{T_1}(\eta'([0, T_1]))),$$

hence at least one of the following inequalities holds on $E_{z_L,z_R}^{T_1}$: $z_{T_1}^R - W_{T_1} \ge c/2$ or $W_{T_1} - z_{T_1}^L \ge c/2$. By large deviation estimates for Bessel processes as in the proof of Lemma 2.3 we have that for any u > 0

$$\mathbb{P}\left[E_{z_L, z_R}^{T_1}; T_1 < (z_L z_R)^u\right] \preceq \sum_{q \in \{L, R\}} \mathbb{P}\left[\sup_{t \in [0, (z_L z_R)^u]} |z_t^q - W_t| \ge c/2\right] = o_{z_L z_R}^\infty(z_L z_R).$$
(2.13)

We conclude the proof of the proposition by observing that

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^{T_1}] \le \mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^{(z_L z_R)^u}] + \mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^{T_1}; T_1 < (z_L z_R)^u],$$

which by (2.10) and (2.13) implies that

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{z_L,z_R}^{T_1}] \le (z_L + z_R)^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')} z_L^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_L}(1)} z_R^{\rho/\kappa' + o_{z_R}(1)}.$$

3 The quantum exponent

In this section, we will calculate the probability of a certain event associated with the γ quantum boundary measure of a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge. Throughout this section we will make use of the convention introduced in Section 1.2.3, namely we fix $\kappa' > 8$ and $\gamma = 4/\sqrt{\kappa'} \in (0, \sqrt{2})$ and do not make dependence on κ', γ explicit. The main result of this section is the following proposition.

Proposition 3.1. Let \hbar be the circle average embedding of a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge in $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$, as in Definition 1.5, let ν_{\hbar} be the γ -quantum boundary measure induced by \hbar , and let η' be a chordal SLE_{κ'} in \mathbb{H} from 0 to ∞ independent of \hbar . For r > 0, let

$$T_r := \inf \{ t > 0 : |\eta'(t)| = r \}$$
(3.1)

and for $\delta > 0$ let

$$E_{\delta}^{T_r} := \left\{ \nu_{\hbar} \left(\eta'([0, T_r]) \cap \mathbb{R}_- \right) \le \delta \text{ and } \nu_{\hbar} \left(\eta'([0, T_r]) \cap \mathbb{R}_+ \right) \le \delta \right\}.$$
(3.2)

For each fixed $r \in (0, 1]$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{T_r}] = \delta^{4/\gamma^2 + o_{\delta}(1)}.$$

3.1 Moment estimates for the quantum boundary measure

In this subsection we will state some estimates for the moments of a certain quantity associated with the quantum boundary measure induced by a free-boundary GFF on \mathbb{H} , which will be proven in the next two subsections. Let Q be as in (1.3) and fix $\alpha \in [0, Q)$. For the proof of Proposition 3.1 we only need the case where $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}\gamma$ (note that $\alpha < Q$ for $\gamma \in (0, \sqrt{2})$), but it is no more difficult to treat the general case. Also let

$$a := Q - \alpha. \tag{3.3}$$

Let h^F be a free boundary GFF on \mathbb{H} , normalized so that its semicircle average over $\partial B_1(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ is 0. Let $h := h^F - \alpha \log |\cdot|$, so that h is an unscaled α -quantum wedge as defined in [5, Section 1.4]. Let ν_h be the γ -quantum boundary measure induced by h.

Fix $r \in (0, 1]$. For $\delta > 0$, let $x_{\delta,L}$ and $x_{\delta,R}$ be the non-negative random variables such that $\nu_h([-x_{\delta,L}, 0]) = \nu_h([0, x_{\delta,R}]) = \delta$. Let $\overline{x}_{\delta,L} = x_{\delta,L} \wedge r$ and $\overline{x}_{\delta,R} = x_{\delta,R} \wedge r$. In this subsection we will compute the joint moments of $\overline{x}_{\delta,L}$ and $\overline{x}_{\delta,R}$. This calculation, together with the estimate (2.3) of Section 2, will be used to compute the probability in Proposition 3.1.

Proposition 3.2. Let $\overline{x}_{\delta,L}$ and $\overline{x}_{\delta,R}$ for $\delta > 0$ be as above. For $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 > 0$ we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda_1} \overline{x}_{\delta,R}^{\lambda_2}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = \frac{a - \sqrt{a^2 + 4(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)}}{\gamma},\tag{3.4}$$

with a as in (3.3).

We will deduce Proposition 3.2 from two similar propositions which concern moments of only a single random variable (rather than joint moments) and imply the upper and lower bounds in Proposition 3.2, respectively.

Proposition 3.3. Suppose we are in the setting of Proposition 3.2. For each $\lambda > 0$,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = \frac{a - \sqrt{a^2 + 4\lambda}}{\gamma},\tag{3.5}$$

with a as in (3.3).

Proposition 3.4. Let h be an unscaled α -quantum wedge as above. For $\delta > 0$, let x_{δ} be such that $\nu_h([-x_{\delta}, x_{\delta}]) = \delta$. Also fix r > 0 and let $\overline{x}_{\delta} := x_{\delta} \wedge r$. Then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta}^{\lambda}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = \frac{a - \sqrt{a^2 + 4\lambda}}{\gamma},$$

with a as in (3.3).

The following lemma tells us that in order to prove Propositions 3.2, 3.3, and 3.4, we need only prove the upper bound for the limit in Proposition 3.3 and a lower bound for the limit in Proposition 3.4.

Lemma 3.5. Let $\overline{x}_{\delta,L}, \overline{x}_{\delta,R}$ be defined as in the beginning of this subsection and let \overline{x}_{δ} be as in Proposition 3.4 (with the same choice of r). For each $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 > 0$, we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta}^{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}} \le \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda_1} \overline{x}_{\delta,R}^{\lambda_2}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}} \le \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}}.$$
(3.6)

Proof. By definition, we have $\overline{x}_{\delta} \leq \overline{x}_{\delta,L} \wedge \overline{x}_{\delta,R}$, which gives the first inequality in (3.6). The second inequality follows from

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda_{1}}\overline{x}_{\delta,R}^{\lambda_{2}}\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\overline{x}_{\delta,L} + \overline{x}_{\delta,R}\right)^{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}}\right]$$
$$\leq 2^{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}}\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}} + \overline{x}_{\delta,R}^{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}}\right]$$
$$= 2^{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+1}\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}}\right].$$

The proofs of the lower bound in Proposition 3.3 and the upper bound in Proposition 3.4 will be completed in the next two subsections. Both proofs use arguments similar to those found in [6, Section 4]. In particular, both estimates are established by first proving the semicircle average version of the estimate and then showing that the exponential of γ times the semicircle average is in some sense a good approximation for the quantum measure.

3.2 Circle average KPZ and tail estimates

In this subsection we will establish several lemmas which are similar to various results in [6, Section 4] and which are needed for the proofs of the results in Section 3.1. Throughout this subsection and the next, we assume we are in the setting of Section 3.1, and we use the notation introduced there plus the following additional notation. For $\epsilon > 0$, let $h_{\epsilon}(z)$ be the semicircle average of h about $\partial B_{\epsilon}(z) \cap \mathbb{H}$. For $t \in \mathbb{R}$, let

$$V_t := -h_{e^{-t}}(0) + Qt, (3.7)$$

with Q as in (1.3). As explained in [6, Section 6.1], V_t is distributed as $\mathcal{B}_{2t} + at$ where \mathcal{B} is a standard linear two-sided Brownian motion and a is as in (3.3) (here we recall that h has a $-\alpha$ -log singularity at 0).

Let

$$A_{\delta} := \frac{2}{\gamma} \log \delta^{-1} \quad \text{and} \quad \tau_{\delta} := \inf\{t \ge 0 : V_t = A_{\delta}\}.$$
(3.8)

As we will see, $\exp(-\tau_{\delta})$ is a good estimator of $\overline{x}_{\delta,L}$. The semicircle average version of Proposition 3.3 is the following simple fact regarding Brownian motion.

Lemma 3.6. For $\lambda > 0$ we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\lambda \tau_{\delta}}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = \frac{a - \sqrt{a^2 + 4\lambda}}{\gamma}.$$
(3.9)

Proof. Write $V_t = \mathcal{B}_{2t} + at$, with \mathcal{B} a standard linear Brownian motion. Let

$$\beta := \frac{\sqrt{a^2 + 4\lambda} - a}{2}$$

so that $\beta^2 + a\beta = \lambda$. We observe that $t \mapsto \exp(\beta \mathcal{B}_{2t} - \beta^2 t)$ is a non-negative martingale. Furthermore, using that $\alpha < Q$ so that a > 0, for $t \leq \tau_{\delta}$ we have $\mathcal{B}_{2t} \leq A_{\delta}$. In particular, $t \mapsto \exp(\beta \mathcal{B}_{2\tau_{\delta} \wedge t} - \beta^2 \tau_{\delta} \wedge t)$ is bounded and $\mathbb{P}[\tau_{\delta} < \infty] = 1$. By the optional stopping theorem,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\exp\left(\beta\mathcal{B}_{2\tau_{\delta}}-\beta^{2}\tau_{\delta}\right)\right]=1.$$

Since $\mathcal{B}_{2\tau_{\delta}} = A_{\delta} - a\tau_{\delta}$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\lambda\tau_{\delta}}\right] = e^{-\beta A_{\delta}} = \delta^{2\beta/\gamma} = \delta^{\frac{\sqrt{a^2+4\lambda}-a}{\gamma}}$$

To deduce Proposition 3.3 from Lemma 3.6, we first need a lower bound for the γ -quantum boundary length of an interval. The needed estimate can be deduced in a similar manner to [6, Lemma 4.5], but for brevity we give an alternative argument based on the theory of

Gaussian multiplicative chaos [15, 30].

Lemma 3.7. Let h^F be as in Section 3.1 and let ν_{h^F} be its associated γ -quantum boundary measure. Let $I \subset \partial \mathbb{H}$ be a bounded open interval. Then $\nu_{h^F}(I)$ has finite moments of all negative orders.

Proof. This follows from general Gaussian multiplicative chaos theory applied to ν_{hF} . See, e.g. [30, Theorems 2.11 and 2.12]. See also [29, Section 4.4] for an approximation scheme for ν_{hF} to which Gaussian multiplicative chaos theory applies (the approximation scheme is stated in the context of the unit disk \mathbb{D} , but a similar formula works for the upper half-plane).

Lemma 3.8. Let τ be a stopping time for the filtration $\mathcal{F}_t = \sigma(V_s : s \in (-\infty, t])$. Also fix u > 0. We have

$$\mathbb{P}\Big[\nu_h([0, e^{-\tau}]) < \delta^u \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma}{2}V_\tau\right) \mid \mathcal{F}_\tau\Big] = o_\delta^\infty(\delta)$$
(3.10)

as $\delta \to 0^+$, at a deterministic rate which does not depend on τ .

Proof. Fix a stopping time τ as in the statement of the lemma. The restriction of h to $B_{e^{-\tau}}(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ is determined by the orthogonal projection of h onto the set of functions with mean zero on all semicircles centered at 0 together with the values of V_t for $t \geq \tau$ (c.f. [5, Lemma 4.1]). Since $t \mapsto V_t$ has the law of a two-sided drifted Brownian motion normalized to vanish at 0, it follows from the strong Markov property of Brownian motion that the conditional law given \mathcal{F}_{τ} of the restriction of $h - h_{e^{-\tau}}(0)$ to $B_{e^{-\tau}}(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ is that of a free boundary GFF restricted to $B_{e^{-\tau}}(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ and normalized so that its semicircle average vanishes on $\partial B_{e^{-\tau}}(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$. It follows from the construction of ν_h via semicircle averages

(see [6, Section 6]) that $e^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}h_{e^{-\tau}}(0)}\nu_{h}([0, e^{-\tau}])$ is determined by the restriction of $h - h_{e^{-\tau}}(0)$ to $B_{e^{-\tau}}(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$.

Let $\phi(z) := e^{-\tau}z$. Let $\tilde{h} = h \circ \phi + Q \log e^{-\tau}$, with Q as in (1.3). By the boundary analogue of [6, Proposition 2.1], we have $\nu_h([0, e^{-\tau}]) = \nu_{\tilde{h}}([0, 1])$. Let \tilde{h}_* be the restriction to $B_1(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ of the field $h \circ \phi - h_{e^{-\tau}}(0)$. By conformal invariance of the free boundary GFF and the discussion above, it follows that the conditional law given \mathcal{F}_{τ} of the restriction of $h \circ \phi$ to $B_1(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ is the same as the law of $h|_{B_1(0)\cap\mathbb{H}}$, modulo a global additive constant. The semicircle average of $h \circ \phi$ over $\partial B_1(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ is given by $h_{e^{-\tau}}(0)$. It therefore follows that the conditional law of \tilde{h}_* given \mathcal{F}_{τ} is the same as the law of $h|_{B_1(0)\cap\mathbb{H}}$.

By the definition of the γ -quantum boundary measure we have

$$\nu_{\tilde{h}}([0,1]) = \exp\left(\frac{\gamma}{2}h_{e^{-\tau}}(0) - \frac{\gamma}{2}Q\tau\right)\nu_{\tilde{h}_{*}}([0,1]) = \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma}{2}V_{\tau}\right)\nu_{\tilde{h}_{*}}([0,1]).$$
(3.11)

By Lemma 3.7, the conditional law given \mathcal{F}_{τ} of $\nu_{\tilde{h}_*}([0,1])$ has moments of all negative orders, so by Chebyshev's inequality, for each $\delta > 0$ we have that $\mathbb{P}[\nu_{\tilde{h}_*}([0,1]) \leq \delta^u | \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]$ decays faster than any power of δ . We thus obtain the statement of the lemma.

3.3 Proof of the moment estimates

In this subsection we will prove the upper bound in Proposition 3.3 and the lower bound in Proposition 3.4, thereby completing the proof of the propositions in Section 3.3. Our first proof is similar to the argument given in [6, Section 4.4].

Proof of Proposition 3.3, upper bound. Fix $s \in (0, 1)$. For $\delta > 0$, let τ_{δ^s} be as in (3.8) with δ^s in place of δ , so that with A_{δ} as in (3.8) we have

$$\tau_{\delta^s} = \inf\{t \ge 0 : V_t = sA_\delta\}.$$

Let $\widehat{x}_{\delta,s} := \exp(-\tau_{\delta^s})$. For $\lambda > 0$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda}\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\widehat{x}_{\delta,s}^{\lambda}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda}; \, \widehat{x}_{\delta,s} \leq \overline{x}_{\delta,L}\right].$$
(3.12)

By Lemma 3.6 (applied with δ^s in place of δ) we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{E}\left[\widehat{x}_{\delta,s}^{\lambda}\right]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = s \frac{a - \sqrt{a^2 + 4\lambda}}{\gamma}.$$
(3.13)

On the event $\{\widehat{x}_{\delta,s} \leq \overline{x}_{\delta,L}\}$ we have

$$\nu_h([-\widehat{x}_{\delta,s},0]) \le \delta = \delta^{1-s} \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma}{2}V_{\tau_{\delta^s}}\right).$$

By Lemma 3.8, $\mathbb{P}[\widehat{x}_{\delta,s} \leq \overline{x}_{\delta,L}] = o_{\delta}^{\infty}(\delta)$. By definition, we have $\overline{x}_{\delta,L} \leq r$, so $\mathbb{E}[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\lambda}; \widehat{x}_{\delta,s} \leq \overline{x}_{\delta,L}]$ decays faster than any power of δ . Since *s* is arbitrary, the desired upper bound now follows from (3.12) and (3.13).

Finally we prove the lower bound in Proposition 3.4.

Proof of Proposition 3.4, lower bound. For $\delta > 0$ let τ_{δ} be as in (3.8) and let $\hat{x}_{\delta} := e^{-\tau_{\delta}}$. We note that $\tau_{\delta} \ge 0$, so $\hat{x}_{\delta} \le 1$. Also let $\mathcal{F}_{\tau_{\delta}} := \sigma(V_t : t \le \tau_{\delta})$. We claim there exists a constant c > 0 (independent of δ) such that

$$\mathbb{P}[\widehat{x}_{\delta} \leq \overline{x}_{\delta} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau_{\delta}}] = \mathbb{P}[\nu_{h}([-\widehat{x}_{\delta}, \widehat{x}_{\delta}]) \leq \delta \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau_{\delta}}] \geq c \quad \text{a.s.}$$
(3.14)

Assuming that (3.14) holds, we get that for $\lambda > 0$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta}^{\lambda}\right] \geq \mathbb{E}\left[\widehat{x}_{\delta}^{\lambda}\mathbb{P}\left[\widehat{x}_{\delta} \leq \overline{x}_{\delta} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau_{\delta}}\right]\right] \geq c\mathbb{E}\left[\widehat{x}_{\delta}^{\lambda}\right],$$

which implies the desired lower bound.

It remains only to prove (3.14). To this end, we define ϕ , \tilde{h} , and \tilde{h}_* as in the proof of Lemma 3.8 with $\tau = \tau_{\delta}$, so that the conditional law of \tilde{h}_* given $\mathcal{F}_{\tau_{\delta}}$ is the same as the law of $h|_{B_1(0)\cap\mathbb{H}}$; and (as in (3.11)) we have

$$\nu_h([-\widehat{x}_{\delta},\widehat{x}_{\delta}]) = \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma}{2}V_{\tau_{\delta}}\right)\nu_{\widetilde{h}_*}([-1,1]) = \delta\nu_{\widetilde{h}_*}([-1,1]).$$

It is easy to see that $\mathbb{P}[\nu_{\tilde{h}_*}([-1,1]) \leq 1] > 0$, and (3.14) follows.

3.4 Proof of Proposition 3.1

Since \hbar is the circle average embedding of a quantum wedge and h is a free-boundary GFF normalized so that its semicircle average over $\partial B_1(0) \cap \mathbb{H}$ vanishes, Remark 1.6 implies that we can couple h and \hbar such that $h \equiv \hbar$ on $\mathbb{D} \cap \mathbb{H}$. For $\delta > 0$, let $\chi_{\delta,L}$ and $\chi_{\delta,R}$ be chosen so that $\nu_{\hbar}([-\chi_{\delta,L}, 0]) = \nu_{\hbar}([0, \chi_{\delta,R}]) = \delta$ (as in Remark 1.10). By our choice of coupling we have $\chi_{\delta,L} \wedge r = \overline{x}_{\delta,L}$ and $\overline{\chi}_{\delta,R} \wedge r = \overline{x}_{\delta,R}$.

Assume that the SLE curve η' is sampled independently from h and h. Then $E_{\delta}^{T_r}$ is the event that η' reaches $\partial B_r(0)$ before hitting either $-\overline{\chi}_{\delta,L}$ or $\overline{\chi}_{\delta,R}$ (in particular, $E_{\delta}^{T_r}$ occurs a.s. if $\overline{\chi}_{\delta,L} > r$ and $\overline{\chi}_{\delta,R} > r$). By Proposition 2.1, for each u > 0 we have

$$\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\rho/\kappa'+u}\overline{x}_{\delta,R}^{\rho/\kappa'+u}(\overline{x}_{\delta,L}+\overline{x}_{\delta,R})^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')} \preceq \mathbb{P}\left[E_{\delta}^{T_r} \mid \hbar\right] \preceq \overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\rho/\kappa'-u}\overline{x}_{\delta,R}^{\rho/\kappa'-u}(\overline{x}_{\delta,L}+\overline{x}_{\delta,R})^{\rho^2/(2\kappa')}$$
(3.15)

with $\rho = \kappa' - 4$, as in Section 2, and the implicit constants deterministic and independent of δ (but possibly depending on r and u). From the inequality

$$\frac{1}{2}(\epsilon_1^p + \epsilon_2^p) \le (\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2)^p \le 2^p(\epsilon_1^p + \epsilon_2^p) \quad \text{for all} \quad p, \epsilon_1, \epsilon_2 > 0$$

and symmetry between $\overline{x}_{\delta,L}$ and $\overline{x}_{\delta,R}$, we infer that the expectations of the left and right sides

of (3.15) are bounded above and below by constants (depending only on κ') times

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{x}_{\delta,L}^{\rho/\kappa'+o_u(1)}\overline{x}_{\delta,R}^{(\rho^2+2\rho)/(2\kappa')+o_u(1)}\right]$$

where here the $o_u(1)$ is deterministic and independent of δ . By Proposition 3.2 applied with $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}\gamma$, this latter quantity is of order $\delta^{4/\gamma^2 + o_u(1)}$. Since u is arbitrary, we obtain the proposition.

4 Conclusion of the proof

In this section we will deduce (1.6) from Proposition 3.1 and thereby complete the proof of Theorem 1.1. Suppose we are in the setting of Section 1.1. Define the $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge $\mathcal{W} = (\mathbb{H}, \hbar, 0, \infty)$ and the $\mathrm{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ curve $\tilde{\eta}'$ as in Remark 1.10. For t > 0 and $\delta > 0$, let \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} be as in (1.4). Equivalently, by Remark 1.10,

$$\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{t} := \left\{ \nu_{\hbar}(\widetilde{\eta}'([0,t]) \cap \mathbb{R}_{-}) \leq \delta \text{ and } \nu_{\hbar}(\widetilde{\eta}'([0,t]) \cap \mathbb{R}_{+}) \leq \delta \right\}.$$

$$(4.1)$$

For r > 0 let T_r be as in (3.1) and let $E_{\delta}^{T_r}$ be as in (3.2).

Roughly speaking, we will show that $\mathbb{P}[\tilde{E}_{\delta}^{1}]$ is a good approximation of $\mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{T_{1}}]$. Combining this with Proposition 3.1 will complete the proof of (1.6). Showing that $\mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{T_{1}}]$ is less than or equal to $\mathbb{P}[\tilde{E}_{\delta}^{1}]$ (up to o(1) error in the exponent) is relatively simple. One just needs to notice that when $\tilde{\eta}'$ exits the Euclidean unit ball, with overwhelmingly high probability it will contain a Euclidean ball of radius $\delta^{o_{\delta}(1)}$, and will therefore have quantum mass at least $\delta^{o_{\delta}(1)}$ with overwhelmingly high probability. Therefore \tilde{E}_{δ}^{t} occurs for some $t \geq \delta^{o_{\delta}(1)}$. The details are provided in Section 4.1.

The upper bound of $\mathbb{P}[\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{1}]$ in terms of $\mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{T_{1}}]$ is more difficult. One could worry that if $\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{1}$ occurs, then the Euclidean size of $\widetilde{\eta}'([0, 1])$ under the circle average embedding is very small

with high probability. This scenario cannot be ruled out directly by using the quantum mass tail estimate because the upper tail only has a power law decay (see [30, Theorems 2.11 and 2.12]). In Section 4.2, by exploring the relationship between various embeddings of a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge, we will show that conditioned on $\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{1}$, there is a uniformly positive probability that $E_{\delta}^{T_{r}}$ occurs for some δ -independent constant r > 0.

4.1 Upper bound for $\sigma(\gamma)$

We first prove an analogue of [5, Proposition 10.13], which in turn is an analogue of [6, Lemma 4.5].

Proposition 4.1. Fix $\gamma \in (0, \sqrt{2})$ and let $(\mathbb{H}, \hbar, 0, \infty)$ be a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge under the circle average embedding (Definition 1.5). Let η' be an independent chordal $SLE_{\kappa'}$ in \mathbb{H} from 0 to ∞ parametrized by capacity. Then with T_1 as in (3.1), we have

$$\mathbb{P}[\mu_{\ell}(\eta'([0,T_1])) \le \delta] = o_{\delta}^{\infty}(\delta).$$
(4.2)

Proof. Let r denote 1/2 times the radius of the largest Euclidean ball contained in $\eta'([0, T_1])$ and let z be the center of this ball. Then it suffices to show that

$$\mathbb{P}[\mu_{h^F}(B_r(z)) \le \delta] = o_{\delta}^{\infty}(\delta),$$

where h^F has the law of a free boundary GFF with the additive constant fixed so that the average of h^F on $\mathbb{H} \cap \partial \mathbb{D}$ is equal to 0. The reason why we can replace \hbar by h^F is that $\hbar|_{\mathbb{D}\cap\mathbb{H}}$ agrees in law with the restriction of $h^F - \frac{3}{2}\gamma \log|\cdot|$ to $\mathbb{D} \cap \mathbb{H}$ and $B_r(z) \subset \mathbb{D} \cap \mathbb{H}$, so $-\frac{3}{2}\gamma \log|\cdot|$ is positive on $B_r(z)$. As argued in the proof of [5, Proposition 10.13], the law of the random variable r^{-1} has an exponential tail at ∞ (although the argument there is for a whole plane, the same argument works for \mathbb{H}). In particular, for $\delta > 0$ we have

$$\mathbb{P}\left[r \le (\log \delta^{-1})^{-2}\right] = o_{\delta}^{\infty}(\delta).$$

Conditioned on $\eta'([0, T_1])$ (which is independent from h^F) the regular conditional law of the circle average $h_r^F(z)$ is that of a Gaussian with variance at most $-2\log r$ (see [6, Section 3.1]). Here we use the fact that $B_r(z)$ lies at distance at least r from \mathbb{R} . By the Gaussian tail bound, for each fixed $s \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$\mathbb{P}\left[e^{\gamma h_r^F(z)} \le \delta^s \,|\, r \ge (\log \delta^{-1})^{-2}\right] = o_{\delta}^{\infty}(\delta).$$

On the other hand, by [6, Lemma 4.6] we have that

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\mu_{h^F}(B_r(z)) \le \delta \,|\, r \ge (\log \delta^{-1})^{-2}, \, e^{\gamma h_r^F(z)} \ge \delta^s\right] = o_\delta^\infty(\delta).$$

The proof concludes.

For fixed s > 0, we have

$$\mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{T_1}] \le \mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{\delta^s}] + \mathbb{P}[T_1 \le \delta^s].$$
(4.3)

By Proposition 4.1, for each s > 0,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{P}[T_1 \le \delta^s]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = -\infty.$$
(4.4)

By Lemma 1.9,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{P}[\widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{\delta^s}]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = -(1 - s/2)\sigma(\gamma), \tag{4.5}$$

with $\sigma(\gamma)$ as in (1.5). By Proposition 3.1,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{T_1}]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = -\frac{4}{\gamma^2}.$$
(4.6)

Since s is arbitrary, we can combine (4.3), (4.4), (4.5), and (4.6) to obtain $\sigma(\gamma) \leq 4/\gamma^2$, which is the upper bound in (1.6).

4.2 Lower bound for $\sigma(\gamma)$

4.2.1 Notation for quantum surfaces

Let \mathcal{W} be the $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge in Section 1. In the remainder of this section, we will consider several different parameterizations of \mathcal{W} . Recall that \mathcal{W} is an equivalence class of 4-tuples (D, \hbar, a, b) , with $D \subset \mathbb{C}$, \hbar a distribution on D, and $a, b \in \partial D$ where the equivalence relation is defined in terms of transformations on the form (1.2).

We will consider two coordinate systems: $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$ and $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$ where $\mathcal{S} := \mathbb{R} \times (0, \pi)$ is a horizontal strip. Whenever we switch between the two coordinate systems, we assume that the corresponding objects are related as in (1.2) with f the *canonical coordinate transformation* between the two systems

$$z \mapsto -e^{-z}, \quad z \in \mathcal{S}.$$
 (4.7)

Since a wedge only has two marked boundary points, knowing the coordinate system is not sufficient to determine the embedding of the surface, i.e. there is one free parameter corresponding to scaling \mathbb{H} or horizontally translating \mathcal{S} . We will consider several different embeddings of \mathcal{W} into each of \mathbb{H} and \mathcal{S} . We slightly abuse notation by using the same symbols for embeddings into \mathbb{H} and \mathcal{S} , always keeping in mind that the corresponding fields are related via the map (4.7). Hereafter, we will denote an embedding of \mathfrak{h} in a given coordinate system by \mathfrak{h}^{\bullet} , where \bullet indicates the particular choice of embedding. After we define \mathfrak{h}^{\bullet} in one coordinate system, we simultaneously define \mathfrak{h}^{\bullet} in the other coordinate system by applying the coordinate change formula (1.2) with the mapping (4.7).

In $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$, we let X_t^{\bullet} be the average process of \hbar^{\bullet} along the vertical line segment $\{t\} \times (0, \pi)$, where \bullet is the symbol representing the embedding. Before fixing the embedding of

 \mathcal{W} into $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$, the average process is defined up to a horizontal translation. Therefore we can fix the embedding of \mathcal{W} on $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$ by specifying the translation of the average process. We define the *circle average embedding* of \mathcal{W} into $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$ by requiring inf $\{t \in \mathbb{R} : X_t^{\bullet} = 0\} = 0$ and denote the field (resp. average process) on \mathcal{S} by \hbar^C (resp. X^C). Note that the circle average embedding into \mathcal{S} is the image of the circle average embedding into \mathbb{H} (Definition 1.5) under the coordinate change (4.7), and in keeping with our convention the latter embedding will also be denoted by \hbar^C in the remainder of this section. By the definition of a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge and by (1.2), under the circle average embedding in \mathcal{S} there are standard Brownian motions $\mathcal{B}, \hat{\mathcal{B}}$ such that $X_t^C = \mathcal{B}_{2t} - at$ for $t \ge 0$ and $X_t^C = \hat{\mathcal{B}}_{-2t} - at$ for t < 0, where $a = Q - \frac{3}{2}\gamma$ and $\hat{\mathcal{B}}$ is conditioned such that $X_t^C \ge 0$ for t < 0.

We will also consider the so-called *smooth centering embedding*, which we denote by \hbar^{S} . It is introduced in the context of quantum cones in [5, Section 10.4.2]. Let ϕ be a fixed positive smooth function supported on [0, 1] with integral 1. The smooth centering embedding of \mathcal{W} into $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$ is such that

$$\inf\left\{t\in\mathbb{R}:\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}X_s\phi(s-t)ds\leq 0\right\}=0.$$

Since $\lim_{t\to\infty} X_t = -\infty$ and $\lim_{t\to-\infty} X_t = +\infty$, \hbar^S is well-defined almost surely. Heuristically, the smooth centering embedding is close to the circle average embedding, but is sometimes easier to work with since it involves the integral of the field against a smooth function, rather than the integral against a distribution (namely the uniform measure on a circle).

Different embeddings of \mathcal{W} into $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$ (resp. $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$) differ by a scaling (resp. horizontal translation). We let $\sigma_{\bullet,\diamond}^{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{W})$ (resp. $\sigma_{\bullet,\diamond}^{\mathcal{S}}(\mathcal{W})$) be the possibly random constant c such that $\hbar^{\diamond}(\cdot) = \hbar^{\bullet}(c \cdot) + Q \log c$ (resp. $\hbar^{\diamond}(\cdot) = \hbar^{\bullet}(\cdot + c)$). Note that the form of the transformation (4.7) implies that $\sigma_{\bullet,\diamond}^{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{W}) = e^{-\sigma_{\bullet,\diamond}^{\mathcal{S}}(\mathcal{W})}$.

Other embeddings of the $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge are defined using the chordal $\text{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ curve $\tilde{\eta'}$, which we recall is first sampled independently from \mathcal{W} and then parametrized by γ -quantum mass with respect to \mathcal{W} . One such embedding is the so-called *unit radius embedding* of \mathcal{W} , which we denote by \hbar^U . On $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$ it is defined such that

$$1 = \inf \{ r \ge 0 : \widetilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \subset B_r(0) \cap \mathbb{H} \}.$$

We will also have the occasion to consider the quantum surface

$$\mathcal{W}_* := (\widetilde{\eta}'([1,\infty)), h_*, \widetilde{\eta}'(1), \widetilde{\eta}'(\infty))$$

obtained by restricting \mathcal{W} to $\tilde{\eta}'([1,\infty))$. By [5, Lemma 9.3] (see also the proof of [5, Lemma 9.2]), \mathcal{W}_* is a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge independent of $(Z_t)_{t\in[0,1]}$. We will mainly be interested in \mathcal{W}_* embedded in $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$ in two ways. One is the circle average embedding h_*^C . The other one is defined as follows. Consider \mathcal{W} embedded in $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$ under the unit radius embedding h^U . Let $\Psi : \mathbb{H} \setminus \tilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \to \mathbb{H}$ be the conformal map such that $\Psi(\tilde{\eta}'(1)) = 0, \Psi(\infty) = \infty$, and $\lim_{z\to\infty} \Psi(z)/z = 1$. Then $h_*^{\Psi} := h^U \circ \Psi^{-1} + Q \log |(\Psi^{-1})'|$ gives an embedding of \mathcal{W}_* into $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$, which we will call the Ψ -embedding of \mathcal{W}_* .

4.2.2 Smooth centering embedding and conclusion of the proof

In Section 4.2.3, we will prove the following proposition, which is a variant of a result proved in [5, Section 10.4.2] for quantum cones. The proof will use similar techniques as the proof in [5].

Proposition 4.2. Let $\mathcal{W} = (\mathbb{H}, h^S, 0, \infty)$ be a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge with the smooth centering embedding and let $\tilde{\eta}'$ be an independent chordal $\text{SLE}_{\kappa'}$ in \mathbb{H} from 0 to ∞ parameterized by quantum mass with respect to h^S . There are deterministic constants c, r > 0 and an event Gsuch that the following is true for all $\delta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$.

(i) $\mathbb{P}[G \mid \widetilde{E}^1_{\delta}] \ge c.$

(*ii*) On
$$G \cap \widetilde{E}^1_{\delta}$$
, we have $\widetilde{\eta}'([0,1])) \not\subset \overline{B_r(0)}$.

Remark 4.3. The condition that $\tilde{\eta}'([0,1])) \not\subset \overline{B_r(0)}$ in (ii) above can also be written as $\sigma_{S,U}^{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{W}) > r$, in the notation of Section 4.2.1.

It is convenient to use the smooth centering embedding rather than the circle average embedding in Proposition 4.2 for the following reason. Our proof of the proposition will involve comparing certain embeddings of the quantum wedge \mathcal{W} with those of the quantum wedge \mathcal{W}_* obtained by restricting the field to $\mathbb{H} \setminus \tilde{\eta}'([0, 1])$. To do this, we will need to consider how various embeddings transform under a conformal map $\mathbb{H} \setminus \tilde{\eta}'([0, 1]) \to \mathbb{H}$. The behavior of the smooth centering embedding under such a map is easier to control than that of the circle average embedding, since controlling the former amounts to estimating the integral of the field against a smooth test function, whereas controlling the latter amounts to estimating the average of the field over some distorted circle. See in particular Lemma 4.6 below.

Before we prove Proposition 4.2 in Section 4.2.3, we first explain why it almost implies the lower bound for $\sigma(\gamma)$ in (1.6). If Proposition 4.2 were true with the circle average embedding \hbar^C in place of \hbar^S , then the corresponding event G would satisfy $G \cap \tilde{E}_{\delta}^1 \subset E_{\delta}^{T_r}$. By condition (i) in Proposition 4.2, $\mathbb{P}[\tilde{E}_{\delta}^1] \preceq \mathbb{P}[E_{\delta}^{T_r}]$. Combined with Proposition 3.1, this implies $\sigma(\gamma) \ge 4/\gamma^2$. The following simple fact bridges the gap between the smooth centering embedding and the circle average embedding.

Lemma 4.4. Let a > 0 and let \mathcal{B}_t be a standard linear Brownian motion starting from 0. For M > 0, let $\tau_M = \inf\{t \ge 0 : \mathcal{B}_t - at = -M\}$. Let F_M be the event that

$$\int_0^\infty (\mathcal{B}_s - as)\phi(s - t)ds \ge 0, \quad \forall t \in [0, \tau_M].$$

There are deterministic, *M*-independent constants c, C > 0 such that $\mathbb{P}[F_M] \leq Ce^{-cM^2}$ for each M > 0. The same holds if we replace \mathcal{B}_t by \mathcal{B}_{2t} *Proof.* By the reflection principle for Brownian motion,

$$\mathbb{P}[\tau_{M-1} \le 2] \le \mathbb{P}\left[\inf_{t \in [0,2]} \mathcal{B}_t \le 1 + 2a - M\right] \le Ce^{-cM^2}$$

for some c, C > 0 as in the statement of the lemma.

It remains to control the probability of $F_M \cap \{\tau_{M-1} > 2\}$. We assume that M > 1 (so that the time τ'_{M-1} we define next is well-defined and satisfies $\tau'_{M-1} < \tau_M$ almost surely). Let τ'_{M-1} be the last time t before τ_M such that $\mathcal{B}_t - at = 1 - M$. Since ϕ is supported on [0, 1], on the event $F_M \cap \{\tau_{M-1} > 2\}$ there must be a time $t \in [\tau'_{M-1} - 1, \tau'_{M-1}]$ such that $\mathcal{B}_t - at \ge 0$. Note that the time reversal of $\{\mathcal{B}_t - at : t \in [\tau'_{M-1} - 1, \tau'_{M-1}]\}$ is a Brownian motion with drift starting from 1 - M conditioned on the uniformly positive probability event that it does not reach -M before time 1. Hence Doob's maximal inequality implies $\mathbb{P}[F_M, \tau_{M-1} > 2] \le Ce^{-cM^2}$.

By scaling, the statement still holds if we replace \mathcal{B}_t by \mathcal{B}_{2t} .

Proof of the lower bound of $\sigma(\gamma)$ given Proposition 4.2. Given $\delta > 0$, set $M = |\log \delta|^{\frac{2}{3}}$. Let A_M be the event that

$$\inf\left\{t\in\mathbb{R}:\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}X_{s}^{C}\phi(s-t)ds=0\right\}>\inf\left\{t\in\mathbb{R}:X_{t}^{C}=-M\right\}$$

where X_t^C is the average process of \hbar^C in $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$. In this case, $X_t^C = \mathcal{B}_{2t} - at$ for $t \ge 0$, where \mathcal{B} is a standard linear Brownian motion and $a = Q - \frac{3}{2}\gamma > 0$. Furthermore, $A_M \subset F_M$ where F_M is as in Lemma 4.4 for this Brownian motion with drift. Therefore, $\mathbb{P}[A_M] \le C \exp(-c|\log \delta|^{\frac{4}{3}}) = o_{\delta}^{\infty}(\delta)$.

Let G be as in Proposition 4.2. On the event $G \cap \widetilde{E}^1_{\delta} \cap A^c_M$, under $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$ coordinates and the smooth centering embedding of \mathcal{W} , the following are true:

(i) $\widetilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \not\subset [-\log r, \infty) \times [0,\pi].$

(ii) $\inf\{t \in \mathbb{R} : X_t^S = -M\} > 0.$

(iii) $\nu_{h^S}(\widetilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \cap (\mathbb{R} \times \{0\})) \leq \delta$ and $\nu_{h^S}(\widetilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \cap (\mathbb{R} \times \{\pi\})) \leq \delta$.



Figure 1: Smooth centering embedding of \mathcal{W} into $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$ (left) and $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$ (right). On the left (resp. right), the dotted red semi-circle (resp. line segment) corresponds to the unit radius (resp. intersection with the imaginary axis) under the circle average embedding of the modified field h_M . Note that this semi-circle (resp. line segment) is contained in (resp. to the right of) the unit circle (resp. imaginary axis) for the smooth centering embedding on the event A_M^c in the proof of the lower bound of $\sigma(\gamma)$. The event G of Proposition 4.2 is such that if $G \cap \tilde{E}^1_{\delta}$ occurs we have $\tilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \not\subset \overline{B_r(0)}$ on the left (resp. $\tilde{\eta}'([0,1])$ is not contained in $[-\log r, \infty) \times [0, \pi]$ on the right).

Let $h_M := h + M$. Since the law of a quantum wedge is invariant under multiplying its area by a constant [5, Proposition 4.6], $(S, h_M, +\infty, -\infty)$ has the law of a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge. Let h_M^C be the circle-average embedding of this wedge into S. Let $\tilde{\eta}'_M$ be given by $\tilde{\eta}'$ in $(S, +\infty, -\infty)$ -coordinates parameterized by quantum mass with respect to h_M^C . If $G \cap \tilde{E}_{\delta}^1 \cap A_M^c$ occurs, then if we consider h_M^C under $(S, +\infty, -\infty)$ coordinates, the above conditions (i) through (iii) imply that the following are true.

- (i) $\widetilde{\eta}'_M([0, e^{\gamma M}]) \not\subset [-\log r, \infty) \times [0, \pi].$
- (ii) $\nu_{\hbar_M^C} \left(\widetilde{\eta}'_M([0, e^{\gamma M}]) \cap (\mathbb{R} \times \{0\}) \right) \leq \delta e^{\gamma M/2}$ and $\nu_{\hbar_M^C} \left(\widetilde{\eta}'_M([0, e^{\gamma M}]) \cap (\mathbb{R} \times \{\pi\}) \right) \leq \delta e^{\gamma M/2}.$

In particular, if we switch back to $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$ coordinates, the event $E_{\delta e^{\gamma M/2}}^{T_r}$ as defined in Proposition 3.1 with $(\mathfrak{h}_M^C, \widetilde{\eta}_M')$ in place of $(\mathfrak{h}^C, \widetilde{\eta}')$ occurs. Since $(\mathfrak{h}_M^C, \widetilde{\eta}_M') \stackrel{d}{=} (\mathfrak{h}^C, \widetilde{\eta}')$,

$$\mathbb{P}[G \cap \widetilde{E}^1_{\delta} \cap A^c_M] \le \mathbb{P}[E^{T_r}_{\delta e^{\gamma M/2}}].$$

By Proposition 3.1 (recall that $M = |\log \delta|^{\frac{2}{3}}$) we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{P}[E_{\delta e^{\gamma M/2}}^{T_r}]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = -\frac{4}{\gamma^2}.$$

By condition (i) in Proposition 4.2,

$$-\sigma(\gamma) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{P}[G, \widetilde{E}_{\delta}^{1}]}{\log \delta^{-1}} \le \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{P}[E_{\delta e^{\gamma M/2}}^{T_{r}}]}{\log \delta^{-1}} \vee \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\log \mathbb{P}[A_{M}]}{\log \delta^{-1}} = -\frac{4}{\gamma^{2}}.$$

4.2.3 Proof of Proposition 4.2

In light of the preceding two subsections, to complete the proof of (1.6) and hence of Theorem 1.1, it remains only to prove Proposition 4.2. The proof will proceed as follows. Recall the definition of the wedge \mathcal{W}_* from Section 4.2.1. In Lemma 4.5, we will construct events G_1 and G_2 such that $G_1 \cap G_2$ has uniformly positive conditional probability given \tilde{E}_{δ}^1 and on $G_1 \cap G_2 \cap \tilde{E}_{\delta}^1$, the Ψ -embedding and circle average embedding of \mathcal{W}_* differ by a bounded scaling factor. Heuristically, this means that the $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedges \mathcal{W} and \mathcal{W}_* are comparable to one another, up to a δ -independent constant. Then, in Lemma 4.6, we will define an event $F(t_0)$ of probability close to 1 which is independent from \tilde{E}_{δ}^1 such that on $F(t_0)$, the smoothed averages over large semicircles of the embedding h_*^{Ψ} of \mathcal{W}_* (expressed as perturbed smoothed semicircle averages of \hbar^C) are under control. These lemmas together will enable us to bound the scaling factor between \hbar^U and \hbar^S on an event of positive conditional probability given \tilde{E}_{δ}^1 , which by Remark 4.3 will prove Proposition 4.2.

We first construct an event where the scaling factor $\sigma_{\Psi,C}^{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{W}_*)$ (as defined in Section 4.2.1) is bounded from above and below.

Lemma 4.5. There is a deterministic constant $c_0 \in (0, 1)$, an event G_1 which is measurable with respect to $(Z_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$, and an event G_2 which is independent of $(Z_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ such that the following holds for each $\delta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$:

- (i) $\mathbb{P}[G_1 | \widetilde{E}^1_{\delta}] \ge c_0 \text{ and } \mathbb{P}[G_2] \ge c_0;$
- (ii) On the event $\widetilde{E}^1_{\delta} \cap G_1 \cap G_2$, $\sigma^{\mathbb{H}}_{\Psi,C}(\mathcal{W}_*) \in [10^{-3}, 10^3]$

Proof. Let $G_1 := \{1 \leq L_1 \leq 2\} \cap \{1 \leq R_1 \leq 2\}$. By [37, Theorem 2], $\mathbb{P}[G_1 | \widetilde{E}_{\delta}^1] \geq c_0$ for some $c_0 > 0$ independent of δ .

Suppose \mathcal{W} has the unit radius embedding into $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$. Let x^- and x^+ be defined such that $\tilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \cap \mathbb{R} = [x^-, x^+]$. By [17, Equation (3.14)] and the definitions of the unit radius embedding and the Ψ -embedding, we have $|\Psi(x^+) - \Psi(x^-)| \in [10^{-2}, 10^2]$. On the other hand, if $\delta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ then on $G_1 \cap \tilde{E}^1_{\delta}$, we have

$$\nu_{h^{\Psi}_{*}}([\Psi(x^{-}),0]) = L_{1} + \nu_{h^{U}}([x^{-},0]) \in [1,3]$$

and similarly for $\nu_{h^{\Psi}_*}([0, \Psi(x^+)])$.

Let

$$G_2 := \{\nu_{\mathbf{h}^C_*}([-1,1]) < 1/2\} \cap \{\nu_{\mathbf{h}^C_*}([0,2]) > 3\} \cap \{\nu_{\mathbf{h}^C_*}([-2,0]) > 3\}.$$

Then G_2 is independent of $(Z_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ and $\mathbb{P}[G_2] \geq c_0$ for some (possibly smaller) $c_0 > 0$ independent of δ . On G_2 , the interval $[\Psi(x^-), \Psi(x^+)]$ after mapping to the circle average embedding of \mathcal{W}_* will contain [-1, 1] and be contained in [-2, 2]. Therefore, on $\widetilde{E}^1_{\delta} \cap G_1 \cap G_2$, the scaling factor between h^{Ψ}_* and h^{C}_* lies in $[10^{-3}, 10^3]$.

Our next lemma is a variant of [5, Proposition 10.19]. The proof follows from essentially the same argument, so we will make it brief. In the statement of the lemma, we let \mathcal{G} be the collection of conformal maps of the following form: $g : \mathbb{H} \setminus A \to \mathbb{H}$, where A ranges over all hulls with a tip $p \in \partial A \setminus \mathbb{R}$ in $\overline{\mathbb{H}}$ such that $0 \in A \subset \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ and g satisfies $g(p) = 0, g(\infty) = \infty$, and $\lim_{z\to\infty} g(z)/z \in [10^{-3}, 10^3]$.

Lemma 4.6. Let K be a fixed constant and $\tilde{\phi} : \mathbb{H} \to [0, \infty)$ be a radially symmetric smooth function supported on $B_1(0) \setminus B_{e^{-1}}(0)$. Suppose \hbar^C is the circle average embedding of a $\frac{3}{2}\gamma$ -quantum wedge into $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$. For $t \in \mathbb{R}$, let $h_t^C = h^C(e^t \cdot) + Q \log |e^t \cdot|$. For $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, let $F(t_0)$ be the event that the inner product $(h_t^C, |(g^{-1})'|^2 \widetilde{\phi} \circ g^{-1})$ is bigger than K for all $t \ge t_0$ and $g \in \mathcal{G}$. Then $\lim_{t_0 \to \infty} \mathbb{P}[F(t_0)] = 1$.

Proof. Let h be the whole plane Gaussian free field plus $-\frac{3}{2}\gamma \log |z|$ normalized so that its circle average over $\partial \mathbb{D}$ is 0. Let $h_t = h(e^t \cdot) + Qt$ and

$$m_n := \inf_{t \in [n, n+1], g \in \mathcal{G}} (h_t, |(g^{-1})'|^2 \widetilde{\phi} \circ g^{-1}) \quad \forall n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

Write $h = h^0 + h^{\dagger}$ where h^0 is the radially symmetric part of h and $h^{\dagger} = h - h^0$ (recall Section 1.2.3). Define m_n^0 and m_n^{\dagger} in the same manner as m_n but with h^0 and h^{\dagger} , respectively, in place of h, so that m_n^0 and m_n^{\dagger} are independent and $m_n^0 + m_n^{\dagger} \leq m_n$. Since the law of h^{\dagger} is scale invariant in law, $\{m_n^{\dagger}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a stationary sequence, hence it has stationary increments. Since the circle average process of h is a drifted Brownian motion, and we observe that $(1, |(g^{-1})'|^2 \tilde{\phi} \circ g^{-1})$ is independent of g, $\{m_n^0\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ also has stationary increments. By results from Gaussian analysis (see [5, Proposition 10.18] and the discussion afterwards), both m_n^0 and m_n^{\dagger} are finite and have finite variance. The Birkhoff ergodic theorem now implies that both $M^0 := \lim_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}m_n^0$ and $M^{\dagger} := \lim_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}m_n^{\dagger}$ exist a.s. Since $\{m_n^{\dagger}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is stationary, $M^{\dagger} = 0$ a.s. Since $Q - \frac{3}{2}\gamma > 0$, we find that $M^0 > 0$ a.s. Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}m_n > 0$, which implies the statement of the lemma with h_t in place of h_t^C .

Since \hbar^C and h are absolutely continuous with respect to each other on $\mathbb{C} \setminus B(0, 10)$, if we define m_n with \hbar^C in place of h, we still have $\lim_{n\to\infty} m_n = \infty$ a.s. By straightforward distortion estimates and since $\tilde{\phi}$ is compactly supported, $(Q \log |\cdot|, |(g^{-1})'|^2 \tilde{\phi} \circ g^{-1})$ is bounded from above and below uniformly over all $g \in \mathcal{G}$. This concludes the proof.

Proof of Proposition 4.2. Let G_1, G_2 , and c_0 be chosen so that the conclusion of Lemma 4.5 holds. Throughout the proof we will assume $G_1 \cap G_2 \cap \widetilde{E}^1_{\delta}$ occurs.

Figure 2: Unit radius embedding of \mathcal{W} (left) and circle average embedding of \mathcal{W}_* (right). The boundary of $\tilde{\eta}'([0,1])$ on the left divides \mathcal{W} into two independent quantum surfaces: $\mathcal{U} = (\hbar|_{\tilde{\eta}'([0,1])}, \tilde{\eta}'([0,1]), 0, \tilde{\eta}'(1), \inf(\tilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \cap \mathbb{R}), \sup(\tilde{\eta}'([0,1]) \cap \mathbb{R}))$ and $\mathcal{W}_* = (\hbar|_{\tilde{\eta}'([1,\infty))}, \tilde{\eta}'([1,\infty)), \tilde{\eta}'(1), \infty)$. The occurrence of \tilde{E}^1_{δ} depends only on \mathcal{U} , while the diameter under the smooth centering embedding of $\tilde{\eta}'([0,1])$ depends mainly on \mathcal{W}_* . We use the independence of $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{W}_*$ to establish Lemma 4.5, which implies that $g \in \mathcal{G}$ on the event $G_1 \cap G_2$ (see the statement of Lemmas 4.5 and 4.6 for the notation). Then we approximate the smoothed drifted circle average for large radii on the left figure (in blue) by a 'distorted' average over the corresponding region on the right figure, and use Lemma 4.6 to conclude that for sufficiently large radii this is positive with uniformly positive probability conditioned on \tilde{E}^1_{δ} . This result is the content of Proposition 4.2.

Suppose $(\mathfrak{k}^U, \widetilde{\eta}')$ is the unit radius embedding of $(\mathcal{W}, \widetilde{\eta}')$ into $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$. Note that $\widetilde{\eta}'([0, 1]) \subset \overline{B_1(0)}$ in this embedding. Let $g: \mathbb{H} \setminus \widetilde{\eta}'([0, 1]) \to \mathbb{H}$ be such that $g(\widetilde{\eta}'(1)) = 0, g(\infty) = \infty$ and

$$h^U \circ g^{-1} + Q \log |(g^{-1})'| = h_*^C, \tag{4.8}$$

where h^{C}_{*} is the circle average embedding of \mathcal{W}_{*} into $(\mathbb{H}, 0, \infty)$. By condition (ii) in Lemma 4.5, we have $g \in \mathcal{G}$ where \mathcal{G} is defined as in Lemma 4.6.

Let ϕ be as in the definition of the smooth centering embedding. Let $\tilde{\phi} : \mathbb{H} \mapsto [0, \infty)$ be defined by

$$\widetilde{\phi}(z) := \frac{1}{\pi} |z|^{-2} \phi(-\log|z|),$$

so that $\widetilde{\phi}$ is a radially symmetric bump function on \mathbb{H} and $\pi \widetilde{\phi}(e^{-t})e^{-2t} = \phi(t)$ for each $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Also define $\widetilde{\phi}_t(\cdot) := e^{-2t}\widetilde{\phi}(e^{-t}\cdot)$ for $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Letting $(X_s^U)_{s\in\mathbb{R}}$ denote the average process of \hbar^U over vertical lines in $(\mathcal{S}, +\infty, -\infty)$ coordi-

nates the following holds

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{s}^{U} \phi(s+t) ds = (\hbar^{U}(e^{t} \cdot) + Q \log |e^{t} \cdot |, \widetilde{\phi}) \\
= (\hbar^{U}(g^{-1}(\cdot)) + Q \log |g^{-1}(\cdot)|, |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|^{2} \widetilde{\phi}_{t} \circ g^{-1}) \\
= (\hbar_{*}^{C} + Q \log |\cdot|, |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|^{2} \widetilde{\phi}_{t} \circ g^{-1}) - Q(\log |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|, |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|^{2} \widetilde{\phi}_{t} \circ g^{-1}) \\
+ Q(\log |g^{-1}(\cdot)| - \log |\cdot|, |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|^{2} \widetilde{\phi}_{t} \circ g^{-1}),$$
(4.9)

where the first identity follows by using polar coordinates and the canonical transformation between \mathbb{H} and \mathcal{S} , the second identity follows by using the coordinate change formula for the inner product (\cdot, \cdot) , and the third identity follows from (4.8).

We will bound for each term on the right-hand side of (4.9). By the Taylor expansion of gnear ∞ , |g(z)/z| is bounded from above and below outside of $\mathbb{H} \setminus B_{e^2}(0)$. Therefore there exists a constant $K_1 > 0$ such that for all $t \ge 2$ we have

$$\left| (\log |g^{-1}(\cdot)| - \log |\cdot|, |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|^2 \widetilde{\phi}_t \circ g^{-1}) \right| = \left| (\log |\cdot| - \log |g(\cdot)|, \widetilde{\phi}_t) \right| \le K_1,$$

which bounds the second term on the right-hand side of (4.9). Since $g \in \mathcal{G}$, distortion estimates imply that $|g'(\cdot)|$ has universal upper and lower bounds on $\mathbb{H} \setminus B_{e^2}(0)$. Since $|(g^{-1})'(g(\cdot))| = 1/|g'(\cdot)|$, there exists a constant $K_2 > 0$ such that for all $t \ge 2$ we have

$$\left| (\log |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|, |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|^2 \widetilde{\phi}_t \circ g^{-1}) \right| = \left| (\log |(g^{-1})' \circ g(\cdot)|, \widetilde{\phi}_t) \right| \le K_2(1, \widetilde{\phi}_t) = K_2,$$

which bounds the third term on the right-hand side of (4.9). Define $K := Q(K_1 + K_2)$.

Let $F(t_0)$ be defined as in Lemma 4.6 for the quantum wedge \mathcal{W}_* and this choice of constant K. Then we can pick a deterministic $t_0 \geq 2$ large enough such that $\mathbb{P}[F(t_0)] \geq 1 - c_0/2$.

condition (i) in Lemma 4.5, we have

$$\mathbb{P}[G \mid \widetilde{E}^1_{\delta}] \ge c_0^2/2.$$

For $t \ge 0$, let $g_t(z) := e^{-t}g(e^t z)$ so that $g_t : \mathbb{H} \setminus e^{-t}\eta'([0,1]) \to \mathbb{H}$. Then for $t \ge 0$, we have $g_t \in \mathcal{G}$ and

$$(\mathbf{h}^{C}_{*} + Q\log|\cdot|, |(g^{-1})'(\cdot)|^{2}\widetilde{\phi}_{t} \circ g^{-1}) = (\mathbf{h}^{C}_{*}(e^{t} \cdot) + Q\log|e^{t} \cdot|, |(g^{-1}_{t})'(\cdot)|^{2}\widetilde{\phi} \circ g^{-1}_{t})$$

By definition of $F(t_0)$, on G this latter quantity is at least K for each $t \ge t_0$. By (4.9) and our bounds for the second and third term on the right-hand side, we obtain

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_s^U \phi(s+t) ds \ge 0 \quad \forall t \ge t_0.$$

Therefore $\sigma_{S,U}^{\mathcal{S}}(\mathcal{W}) \leq t_0$, which means $\sigma_{S,U}^{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{W}) \geq e^{-t_0}$. In light of Remark 4.3, the constants $c = c_0^2/2$ and $r = e^{-t_0}$ and the event G meet the requirements in Proposition 4.2.

References

- [1] ALDOUS, D. The continuum random tree. I. Ann. Probab. 19, 1 (1991), 1–28.
- [2] ALDOUS, D. The continuum random tree. II. An overview. In Stochastic analysis (Durham, 1990), vol. 167 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1991, pp. 23–70.
- [3] ALDOUS, D. The continuum random tree. III. Ann. Probab. 21, 1 (1993), 248–289.
- [4] BERESTYCKI, N., LASLIER, B., AND RAY, G. Critical exponents on Fortuin–Kasteleyn weighted planar maps. ArXiv e-prints (Feb. 2015).

- [5] DUPLANTIER, B., MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Liouville quantum gravity as a mating of trees. ArXiv e-prints (Sept. 2014).
- [6] DUPLANTIER, B., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Liouville quantum gravity and KPZ. Invent. Math. 185, 2 (2011), 333–393.
- [7] EVANS, S. N. On the Hausdorff dimension of Brownian cone points. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 98, 2 (1985), 343–353.
- [8] GWYNNE, E., HOLDEN, N., AND MILLER, J. An almost sure KPZ relation for SLE and Brownian motion. *ArXiv e-prints* (Dec. 2015).
- [9] GWYNNE, E., HOLDEN, N., AND SUN, X. Joint scaling limit of a bipolar-oriented triangulation and its dual in the peanosphere sense. *ArXiv e-prints* (Mar. 2016).
- [10] GWYNNE, E., KASSEL, A., MILLER, J., AND WILSON, D. B. Active spanning trees with bending energy on planar maps and SLE-decorated Liouville quantum gravity for $\kappa \geq 8$. ArXiv e-prints (Mar. 2016).
- [11] GWYNNE, E., MAO, C., AND SUN, X. Scaling limits for the critical Fortuin-Kasteleyn model on a random planar map I: cone times. ArXiv e-prints (Feb. 2015).
- [12] GWYNNE, E., AND MILLER, J. Convergence of the topology of critical Fortuin-Kasteleyn planar maps to that of CLE_{κ} on a Liouville quantum surface. In preparation, 2016.
- [13] GWYNNE, E., AND SUN, X. Scaling limits for the critical Fortuin-Kasteleyn model on a random planar map II: local estimates and empty reduced word exponent. ArXiv e-prints (May 2015).
- [14] GWYNNE, E., AND SUN, X. Scaling limits for the critical Fortuin-Kasteleyn model on a random planar map III: finite volume case. *ArXiv e-prints* (Oct. 2015).
- [15] KAHANE, J.-P. Sur le chaos multiplicatif. Ann. Sci. Math. Québec 9, 2 (1985), 105–150.

- [16] KENYON, R., MILLER, J., SHEFFIELD, S., AND WILSON, D. B. Bipolar orientations on planar maps and SLE₁₂. ArXiv e-prints (Nov. 2015).
- [17] LAWLER, G. F. Conformally invariant processes in the plane, vol. 114 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2005.
- [18] LE GALL, J.-F. Uniqueness and universality of the Brownian map. Ann. Probab. 41, 4 (2013), 2880–2960.
- [19] MIERMONT, G. The Brownian map is the scaling limit of uniform random plane quadrangulations. Acta Math. 210, 2 (2013), 319–401.
- [20] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Imaginary geometry IV: interior rays, whole-plane reversibility, and space-filling trees. ArXiv e-prints (Feb. 2013).
- [21] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. An axiomatic characterization of the Brownian map. ArXiv e-prints (June 2015).
- [22] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Liouville quantum gravity and the Brownian map I: The QLE(8/3,0) metric. ArXiv e-prints (July 2015).
- [23] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Liouville quantum gravity spheres as matings of finite-diameter trees. ArXiv e-prints (June 2015).
- [24] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Imaginary Geometry I: Interacting SLEs. Prob. Theory and Related Fields to appear (2016).
- [25] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Imaginary geometry II: reversibility of $SLE_{\kappa}(\rho_1; \rho_2)$ for $\kappa \in (0, 4)$. Ann. Prob. to appear (2016).
- [26] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Imaginary geometry III: reversibility of SLE_{κ} for $\kappa \in (4, 8)$. Ann. Math. to appear (2016).

- [27] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Liouville quantum gravity and the Brownian map II: geodesics and continuity of the embedding. *ArXiv e-prints* (May 2016).
- [28] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Liouville quantum gravity and the Brownian map III: the conformal structure is determined. In preparation, 2016.
- [29] MILLER, J., AND SHEFFIELD, S. Quantum Loewner Evolution. Duke Math. J. to appear (2016).
- [30] RHODES, R., AND VARGAS, V. Gaussian multiplicative chaos and applications: A review. Probab. Surv. 11 (2014), 315–392.
- [31] ROHDE, S., AND SCHRAMM, O. Basic properties of SLE. Ann. of Math. (2) 161, 2 (2005), 883–924.
- [32] SCHRAMM, O. Scaling limits of loop-erased random walks and uniform spanning trees. Israel J. Math. 118 (2000), 221–288.
- [33] SCHRAMM, O., AND WILSON, D. B. SLE coordinate changes. New York J. Math. 11 (2005), 659–669 (electronic).
- [34] SHEFFIELD, S. Exploration trees and conformal loop ensembles. Duke Math. J. 147, 1 (2009), 79–129.
- [35] SHEFFIELD, S. Conformal weldings of random surfaces: SLE and the quantum gravity zipper. Ann. Prob. to appear (2016).
- [36] SHEFFIELD, S. Quantum gravity and inventory accumulation. Ann. Prob. to appear (2016).
- [37] SHIMURA, M. Excursions in a cone for two-dimensional Brownian motion. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 25, 3 (1985), 433–443.

[38] WERNER, W. Random planar curves and Schramm-Loewner evolutions. In Lectures on probability theory and statistics, vol. 1840 of Lecture Notes in Math. Springer, Berlin, 2004, pp. 107–195.